
 

 

Malvern Hills National Landscape Joint Advisory Committee 

 

 
 

 

Agenda 
Malvern Hills National 
Landscape Joint Advisory 
Committee 
 
Friday, 26 April 2024, 10.00 am 
 
Mathon Parish Hall 
Mathon, WR13 5NY 
 
 
 
 

This document can be provided in alternative formats such as Large Print, an audio recording or 
Braille; it can also be emailed as a Microsoft Word attachment. Please contact Democratic 

Services on telephone number 01905 843579 or by emailing 
democraticServices@worcestershire.gov.uk

Find out more online:
www.worcestershire.gov.uk

mailto:democraticServices@worcestershire.gov.uk


 

 



 

Agenda produced and published by the Hazel Best, Assistant Director for Legal and Governance, County 
Hall, Spetchley Road, Worcester WR5 2NP 
 
To obtain further information or a copy of this agenda contact Kate Griffiths on 01905 846630 or email: 
kgriffiths@worcestershire.gov.uk  
 
All the above reports and supporting information can be accessed via the Council’s website. 
 
Date of Issue: Thursday, 10 April 2024 

 
 
Malvern Hills National Landscape Joint Advisory Committee 
Friday, 26 April 2024, 10.00 am, Mathon Parish Hall 
 
Members Elected Members: 

 
 

 Cllr John Raine 
(Chairman) 

Malvern Hills District Council 

 Sven Bosley Herefordshire Association of Local Councils 
 Cllr Pam Cumming Malvern Hills District Council 
 Cllr Liz Harvey Herefordshire Council 
 Cllr Helen Heathfield Herefordshire Council 
 Cllr Scott Richardson  

Brown 
Worcestershire County Council 

 Frances Victory Malvern Hills Trust 
 Cllr Malcolm Victory Worcestershire County Council 
 Mike Wilkinson Worcestershire Association of Local Councils 
 Clayton Williams Forest of Dean District Council 

 
 Non-Elected members: 

 
 

 Wayne Barnes Forestry Commission 
 Prof Richard Bryant Hereford & Worcester Earth Heritage Trust 
 James Hervey-Bathurst Country Land & Business Association 
 Frank Hill Campaign to Protect Rural England 
 Georgie Hyde NFU West Midlands 
 Hazel McDowall Natural England 
 Mr N Rimmington Historic England 

 
 Co-Opted Members: 

  
 

 Mr A Lee Herefordshire Local Access Forum 
 

Agenda 
 
Item No Subject Page No 

  
1  Apologies and Substitutes 

 
 

 
2  Declaration of Interests 

 
 

 
3  Confirmation of the minutes of the meeting held on 10 November 

2023 
 

 

 



Item No Subject Page No 
 

 

 

4  State of Malvern Hills National Landscape 
To receive a presentation from Professor Nick Evans, University of 
Worcester, or Paul Esrich, Natural Landscape Partnership Manager. 
 

 

 
5  Management Plan Review 

To receive a background report from Paul Esrich, National Landscape 
Partnership Manager. All to participate in a workshop to ensure that JAC 
members have a chance to input to the review process. 
 

1 - 10 

 
6  Position Statement on Renewable energy in the Malvern Hills 

National Landscape and its setting 
To receive a report from Josh Bailey, National Landscape Planning 
Officer. 
  

11 - 60 

 
7  National Landscape Budget and Outline Work Programme 

To receive a report from Paul Esrich, National Landscape Partnership 
Manager.  
 

61 - 66 

 
8  Community Projects Update - Summary of 2023/24 Projects 

To receive a report from Karen Humphries, National Landscape 
Partnership Assistant Manager. (Job Share) 
 

67 - 70 

 
9  Farming in Protected Landscapes - Update 

To receive a report from Sash Warden, Farming in Protected 
Landscapes Officer. 
 

71 - 78 

 
10  Information Items 

To note the items for information. 
 

79 - 82 

 
11  Verbal Reports from Partners 

 
 

 
12  Dates of Future Meetings 

• 15 November 2024, 10.00am, Malvern District Council Offices 
 

 

 
  

If you have any other contributions that you would like to bring to the 
meeting, please contact Paul Esrich tel: 01905 845057. 

 

 

 



  

 
Malvern Hills National Landscape Joint Advisory Committee – 26 April 2024 
 

 
MALVERN HILLS NATIONAL LANDSCAPE JOINT 
ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
26 APRIL 2024 
 
MANAGEMENT PLAN REVIEW  
 
 
Recommendation 
 

1. The Committee is recommended to: 
 

a) Note the background, timetable and work undertaken thus far in reviewing 
the AONB management plan.  

b) Engage in a workshop/discussion and make its views known with regards to 
the review.  

 
Background 
 

2. A letter dated 7th July 2022 received from Defra Minister Lord Benyon 
outlined formally an option to delay the full review of the AONB Management 
Plan, allowing completion nationally of new management planning guidance, 
establishment of the Landscapes Trails & Parks Partnership, a new Protected 
Landscapes Outcomes Framework and other evolving policy for AONBs, and 
will bring the next Plan for 2025-2030 in line with government programmes 
such as 30 by 30. The Malvern Hills AONB Partnership accepted this 
invitation to delay via a letter sent to Natural England on 14 December 2022, 
on behalf of our 5 local authorities. 

 
3. New comprehensive guidance on the management planning process for all 

Protected Landscapes in England (National Parks and National Landscapes) 
has been produced by Natural England and released in draft form. Finalised 
guidance is expected at any time.  

  
Overview  
 

4. The statutory Management Plan is the primary document through which the 
purposes of the Malvern Hills National Landscape can be achieved. It sets out 
the ambition, strategy and guidance to achieve the purposes of the 
designation and, where possible in doing so, enhancing people’s quality of 
life. 

 
Legal status 
 

5. Protected Landscape Management Plans are statutory in that National Park 
Authorities, the Broads Authority, and Local Authorities with Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty (or Conservation Boards where established) are 
required by law to produce them, and they are of national importance.  

  

Page 1

AGENDA ITEM 5



 
Malvern Hills National Landscape Joint Advisory Committee – 26 April 2024 
 

What does the Management Plan do?  
 

6. The Management Plan is the single most important policy document for a 
Protected Landscape. It is a Plan for the geographic area of the designation 
and therefore not for a single authority or body. As a strategic over-arching 
document, it coordinates and integrates other policies, plans and strategies 
where these relate to the purposes and duties. The Management Plan is, 
therefore, the principal vehicle for ensuring that the statutory purposes of the 
Protected Landscape are met. 

 
7. A Management Plan is a document that: 

 
• Highlights the significant aspects of the designation around which the 

purposes of designation will be met. 
• Highlights the condition of the landscape and its socio-economic condition 

and trajectory of change. 
• Describes the drivers for change and issues acting on the landscape. 
• Presents the ambition and strategy to conserve and enhance the Protected 

Landscape in the light of national, regional, and local priorities.  
• Establishes measures of success and targets upon which progress can be 

measured and activity evaluated. 
• Identifies and secures commitment from delivery partners. 
• Identifies the mechanisms for delivery, and establishes broad timeframes. 
• Establishes principles to guide decision-making and so furthering the delivery 

of long-term vision and outcomes. 
 
Management Plan audiences 
 

8. A Management Plan should be prepared with a clear idea of its target 
audiences. The Plan will be read by a wider audience than those that were 
involved in its production. Plans are for all who have a stake in the future of 
the landscape. Preparing the Plan is central to building the collaboration that 
will be instrumental to delivery. 

 
9. Audiences for a Management Plan are likely to include: 

 
• Protected Landscapes teams. 
• The Authorities, The Conservancy, or Partnership Boards/ Committees. 
• Local authority members and officers. 
• Government departments and statutory agencies - for example, Natural 

England, the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, Historic 
• England, the Environment Agency, and the Forestry Commission. 
• Statutory undertakers - for example, Utilities. 
• Other voluntary and third-sector organisations. 
• Parish councils and community leaders. 
• Landowners and land managers. 
• Community and ‘Friends of’ groups. 
• Residents and visitors. 
• Funding bodies, e.g., National Lottery Heritage Fund. 

Page 2



 
Malvern Hills National Landscape Joint Advisory Committee – 26 April 2024 
 

• Others, including prospective partners who are not yet involved. 
 

10. That said, the primary audience for this guidance is the legal ‘Responsible 
Authorities’ for Protected Landscapes – in our case that is local authorities 
with AONBs within their jurisdiction. Primary users of this guidance are the NL 
teams and AONB Partnership Committees (Joint Advisory Committees and 
Joint Committees) who drive the review and delivery of Management Plans. In 
addition, Natural England has specific statutory functions concerning 
Protected Landscapes and will find this guide helpful in discharging those 
functions.   

 
A new legal duty 
 

11. Of particular importance to note is the change to the Countryside and Rights 
of Way Act (2000) that was introduced by the Levelling Up and Regeneration 
Act (2023), effective since 26/12/23. This legislative change now requires that 
all relevant authorities must seek to further the purpose of conserving and 
enhancing the natural beauty of AONBs; previously they were only required to 
have regard to this purpose. AONB Management Plans have been 
strengthened by this new duty. 

 
New national targets 
 

12. Early in 2024 Defra published ambitious new targets for National Parks and 
National Landscapes, to reflect how these areas can make a real difference 
for nature, climate, people and place.  These targets have been described as 
a minimum contribution rather than a limit on a Protected Landscape’s 
ambition.  The Protected Landscape targets are non-statutory and create a 
shared ambition for all 44 of England’s Protected Landscapes. The targets are 
for the Protected Landscapes as places (the geographic area covered by the 
designation) rather than for specific organisations or people within it. These 
targets – see Appendix II - and the work that will need to be done to meet 
them - will form a key part of the next management plan.    

 
Summary 
 
Progress with the review to date 
 

13. Following an ‘invitation to quote’ exercise a consultant was appointed in 
January 2024 to assist with the management plan review over 2023-24 and 
2024/25. This is Craggatak Consulting who have helped with this work in the 
past. As with previous reviews, the intention is that the review will be 
conducted as a joint exercise between staff in the Team (principally the NL 
manager) and the consultant, with the NL Steering Group acting as a 
sounding board and having overall responsibility for the work. Staff in the 
team will be responsible for key communications and liaising with partners 
locally (including undertaking local consultation) whilst the consultant will 
major on delivering the SEA, drafting revised text and ensuring adherence to 
key national guidance etc.  

 

Page 3



 
Malvern Hills National Landscape Joint Advisory Committee – 26 April 2024 
 

14. The management plan review has now commenced. Appendix 1 provides a 
summary of the tasks involved in the review process and who will lead on 
them. It also outlines timings, including the key deadline of needing to have 
revised management plan text available for the JAC to approve in November 
2024. Tasks shaded out in Appendix 1 have already been completed.  

 
Issues and drivers 
 

15. There are a range of issues and areas of development to consider in the 
management plan review (note that list is not exhaustive and topics inter-
relate and overlap). They include:  

  
• Climate change mitigation and adaptation, including integrating and 

developing content from local and national strategies and plans for Net Zero.  
• Nature Recovery – linking to the Colchester Declaration, the AONB Nature 

Recovery Plan and emerging Local Nature Recovery Strategies.  
• Agriculture transition, the development of the Environmental Land 

Management (ELM). 
• Schemes and support for those forms of farming most compatible with AONB 

purposes.  
• Priorities set out in the Landscapes Review and government response, and 

any changes to purposes, duties and targets which result from this.  
• The government’s Environmental Improvement Plan 2023 (revision to 25 Year 

Environment Plan.  
• Closer attention to natural capital assets and the ecosystem services they 

provide. 
• Emerging opportunities for green finance. 
• Local authority policies, including the emerging South Worcestershire 

Development Plan.  
 
Input from JAC members 
 

16. It would be useful for the Committee to spend some time considering key 
issues. Members are asked to be ready to input into a broad-based 
discussion but a few key topics and questions are highlighted below. You can 
make suggestions at the meeting or email them in advance or after the 
meeting.  

 
Topic 1   Evidence and influences  

1. What are the key sources of evidence and information to support the Plan 
(e.g. reports, data)? 

2. What recent higher-level strategies or policies on relevant topics does the 
Plan need to take into account? 

3. Are there any sources of information you know about on community views on 
topics related to the Plan? 

 
Topic 2   The current Plan  

1. Which sections (policies, guidance, etc) do you think need updating or 
changing, possibly including why, and what change would you like to see?  

Page 4



 
Malvern Hills National Landscape Joint Advisory Committee – 26 April 2024 
 

2. Which topics currently don’t have policies or guidance and perhaps should 
have? 

 
Topic 3   Actions 

1. What key new actions (for any actor) do you think that the Plan needs to 
include or stimulate? 

2. Are there actions where the activity of different partners could be better co-
ordinated? 

3. What actions can your organisation take forward to support the aims of the 
National Landscape in the next 5 years? 

 

 

County Council Contact Points 
County Council: 01905 763763 
Worcestershire Hub: 01905 765765 
Email: worcestershirehub@worcestershire.gov.uk 
 
Specific Contact Points for this report 
Paul Esrich, Malvern Hills NL Partnership Manager 
Tel:  01905 845057 
Email: pesrich@worcestershire.gov.uk  
  

Page 5

mailto:worcestershirehub@worcestershire.gov.uk


 
Malvern Hills National Landscape Joint Advisory Committee – 26 April 2024 
 

Appendix 1 - Malvern Hills AONB Management Plan (2019-24) Review 
Programme 
 
 
Task 
No. 

Task Who  Suggested 
timetable 

Formalities and Notification 
1. Authorisation from local 

authorities to undertake 
review on their behalf 

NL Team Dec 2023 
 

2. Notify Natural England S90 
(1) 

NL Team Jan 2024 
 

3. Announce requirement for 
Strategic Environmental 
Assessment (SEA) 

NL Team Jan 2024 
 

4. Finalise process and 
timetable of review 

NL Steering Group  Jan 2024 
 

Scoping  
5. Consider strengths and 

weaknesses of current Plan 
and new strategic priorities 

NL Team with core 
partners 

Jan-Feb 
2024 
 

6. Draft consultation 
programme  

External support  Jan-Feb 
2024 

7. Online survey to gather 
initial comments and views 

External support  Feb 2024 

8. Identify main areas requiring 
update or new work  

External support Mar-Apr 
2024 

9. Review and assess other 
new evidence, law, policies, 
strategies, plans and issues 
which are of relevance 
(including the Outcomes 
Framework, requirement for 
climate change adaptation 
plans etc). 

External support  Mar-Apr 
2024 

10. Collate community views on 
issues from existing sources 

External support  Mar-Apr 
2024 

11. Start SEA Scoping Study, 
collation of data and 
evidence of other plans and 
programmes, seek input 
from the Environmental 
bodies. 

External support with 
NL Team 

Mar-Apr 
2024 

12. Publish State of AONB 
report  

NL Team March 
2024 

13. JAC ‘workshop’ on current 
Plan, policies, evidence, 
positions and new strategic 
priorities 

NL Team 26 April 
2024 

14. Undertake targeted 
consultations/participatory 

External support to 
prepare content. 

April-May 
2024 

Page 6



 
Malvern Hills National Landscape Joint Advisory Committee – 26 April 2024 
 

workshops with relevant 
groups on current Plan, 
policies, evidence, positions 
and new strategic priorities 

NL team to arrange 
invites, hall bookings, 
host events etc  

15. Identify key issues, aims and 
objectives  

External support – 
discussion with NL 
Team/Partnership 

May-June 
2024 

16. Draft new wording for 
consultation draft of revised 
Plan 

External support 
NL Team to approve 

May-June 
2024 

17. Write SEA report, setting 
context and objectives, 
establishing baseline 
evidence and indicators 
(Stage A). 
Assess effects of objectives, 
policies and actions and for 
SEA and/or SA (stage B). 
Collate Environmental 
Report for SEA/SA (stage C) 
plus non-technical summary 

External support 
 

June-July 
2024 

18. Run public consultation on 
new draft plan and SEA/SA 
report (Stage D). 12 weeks. 
Consult on scoping report for 
SEA 

External support with 
NL Team 

July, Aug, 
Sept 2024  

19. Undertake specific targeted 
consultations/participatory 
workshops with relevant 
groups as required 

External support to 
prepare content. 
NL team to arrange 
invites, hall bookings 
etc NL Team 

Summer 
2024 

20. Consider comments from 
consultation and amend plan 

External support/ NL 
Team 

Sep-Oct 
2024 

21. Report on consultation and 
suggested amendments 

External support Oct 2024  

22. Draft plan to JAC for 
approval  

NL Team 15 Nov 
2024 

23. Send to Natural England for 
formal observations 

NL Team Nov 2024 

24. Consider comments from 
formal observations and 
amend Plan 

NL Team Jan 2025 

25. Get new plan formally 
approved by Local 
Authorities and JAC Chair 

Local Authorities Jan-Feb 
2025 

26. Design, printing and 
distribution 

NL Team Feb-Mar 
2025 

27. Send approved plan to 
Secretary of State 

NL Team By end 
Mar 2025 

Page 7



 
Malvern Hills National Landscape Joint Advisory Committee – 26 April 2024 
 

28. Publish statement of how 
SEA taken into account and 
changes 

NL Team Mar 2025 

 
  

Page 8



 
Malvern Hills National Landscape Joint Advisory Committee – 26 April 2024 
 

Appendix 2 – Defra’s 10 Environmental Improvement Plan Targets 
 
Thriving plants and wildlife targets: 
 

• Target 1 Restore or create more than 250,000 hectares of a range of wildlife-rich habitats 
within Protected Landscapes, outside protected sites by 2042 (from a 2022 baseline).  

• Target 2 Bring 80% of SSSIs within Protected Landscapes into favourable condition by 2042.  
• Target 3 For 60% of SSSIs within Protected Landscapes assessed as having ‘actions on 

track’ to achieve favourable condition by 31 January 2028.  
• Target 4 Continuing favourable management of all existing priority habitat already in 

favourable condition outside of SSSIs (from a 2022 baseline) and increasing to include all 
newly restored or created habitat through agri-environment schemes by 2042.  

• Target 5 Ensuring at least 65% to 80% of land managers adopt nature friendly farming on at 
least 10% to 15% of their land by 2030. 
 

Mitigating and adapting to climate change targets: 
 

• Target 6 Reduce net greenhouse gas emissions in Protected Landscapes to net zero by 
2050 relative to 1990 levels. 

• Target 7 Restore approximately 130,000 hectares of peat in Protected Landscapes by 2050.   
• Target 8 Increase tree canopy and woodland cover (combined) by 3% of total land area in 

Protected Landscapes by 2050 (from 2022 baseline). 
 

Enhancing beauty, heritage and engagement with the natural environment targets: 
 

• Target 9 Improve and promote accessibility to and engagement with Protected Landscapes 
for all using existing metrics in our Access for All programme.  

• Target 10 Decrease the number of nationally designated heritage assets at risk in Protected 
Landscapes. 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
Malvern Hills National Landscape Joint Advisory Committee – 26 April 2024 
 

 
MALVERN HILLS NATIONAL LANDSCAPE JOINT 
ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
 
26 APRIL 2024 
 
PLANNING POSITION STATEMENTS – POSITION 
STATEMENT 4: RENEWABLE ENERGY IN THE MALVERN 
HILLS NATIONAL LANDSCAPE AND ITS SETTING 
 
 
Recommendation 
 

1. The Committee is recommended to: 
 

a) Note the consultation undertaken by the Malvern Hills National Landscape 
Team on the ‘Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting’ Position Statement, which took place between 19 December 2023 
and 28 February 2024, and noting subsequent changes made by Malvern 
Hills National Landscape Team following consultation feedback; 
 

b) Endorse the ‘Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting’ Position Statement. 
 

Background 
 

2. Position statements intend to establish the position of the Malvern Hills National 
Landscape Partnership on key issues affecting the area, helping guide the 
Partnership and relevant plan-making and decision-making bodies to articulate 
how the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) designation can be 
conserved and enhanced. They also seek to help to deliver the objectives and 
policies contained within the current Malvern Hills AONB Management Plan, itself 
a statutory plan and a material planning consideration. 
 

3. Position statements are stand-alone documents, framed largely in terms of 
recommendations, and providing some brief context explaining why the 
Partnership is taking this position. They provide further context, guidance, and 
recommendations in relation to specific Management Plan policies and associated 
issues. They do not create new policies and sit alongside the already widely 
published guidance by the Partnership. Position statements are referred to, where 
appropriate, in representations submitted by the National Landscape Team on 
planning consultations. 
 

4. The Partnership currently has three planning position statements, this being on 
Setting, Housing and Landscape-led Development, which have been endorsed by 
the Committee. 

Page 11

AGENDA ITEM 6



 
Malvern Hills National Landscape Joint Advisory Committee – 26 April 2024 
 

5. At the November 2023 meeting of the Committee, a draft Position Statement on 
Renewable Energy was endorsed as a consultation draft, to engage with relevant 
stakeholders and interested parties. It was agreed that if future ‘non-material’ 
amendments are required, as necessary such as changes in planning policy, these 
can be made by Malvern Hills National Landscape Team, in consultation with the 
Malvern Hills National Landscape Partnership Manager. 
 

 
Consultation 
  

6. A formal external consultation led by the Malvern Hills National Landscape Team 
took place between 19 December 2023 and 28 February 2024. The draft position 
statement has been published on the Malvern Hills National Landscape website 
for anyone to make comment, with links to the Position Statement consultation also 
published on the social media accounts for the National Landscape. Direct email 
notifications have also been sent to the following: 

 Elected ward and division members of Malvern Hills District Council, Herefordshire 
Council, Forest of Dean District Council, Worcestershire County Council and 
Gloucestershire County Council, where the elected members’ ward or division lies 
within the Malvern Hills National Landscape; 

 The Town and Parish Councils within the Malvern Hills National Landscape via the 
respective Clerks of these Councils; 

 Current members of the Malvern Hills National Landscape Joint Advisory 
Committee of relevance, including the Malvern Hills Trust, HALC, WCALC, Country 
Land & Business Association, CPRE, Forestry Commission and NFU; 

 Various agencies and interested parties including Natural England, Historic 
England, local landscape consultants, local Wildlife Trust, and Local Nature 
Partnerships; and  

 Local authority staff across the extent of the Malvern Hills National Landscape. 
 

7. Eighteen (18) consultation responses were received, which can be grouped as 
follows: 

 Town and/or Parish Councils – 3  
 Local Authority departments/staff – 5 
 Agencies – 5 
 Elected Members – 1 
 Public Representations – 4 

 
8. Consultation feedback was largely generally positive on the draft position 

statement, in principle. Some comments raised lack of clarity, context, and slight 
concern of terminology/implications regarding one or two of the recommendations 
being put forward, as well as background and reasoned justification. Changes have 
been made to reflect this. There is now a stronger narrative which, hopefully, 
provides a clearer context. The format of the  position statement has also been 
tweaked.  

9. All consultation responses have been compiled into a tabulated document, with 
direct responses from the National Landscape Team and subsequent tracked 
changes (if applicable) added. Some of the consultation responses were quite 

Page 12



 
Malvern Hills National Landscape Joint Advisory Committee – 26 April 2024 
 

extensive so this table is also extensive. Accordingly, a detailed summary of 
consultation feedback is available online on the Malvern Hills National Landscape 
website along with a ‘Tracked Changes’ version of the position statement. These 
can be found at: https://www.malvernhills-nl.org.uk/position-statement-supporting-
documents-for-april-2024-jac/ or can be requested directly via the Malvern Hills 
National Landscape Planning Officer. 
 

Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and its Setting 
Position Statement  

 
10. Climate change has been described as the biggest threat to humanity and is one 

of the greatest threats to biodiversity. We need to urgently take steps to mitigate 
and adapt to the impacts of climate change. Renewable energy sources will play a 
significant role in mitigating the impacts of climate change and progressing towards 
Net Zero within the Malvern Hills National Landscape and its setting.  
 

11. This draft Renewable Energy Position Statement seeks to expand on the current 
Malvern Hills AONB Management Plan by providing guidance and 
recommendations on how we can plan positively for renewable energy provision 
within the National Landscape and its setting. The level of protection afforded to 
the National Landscape may mean that some of the area’s renewable energy 
requirements will need to be generated outside of the area, including the setting of 
the National Landscape. However, we should still seek to make a meaningful 
contribution to renewable energy provision within the National Landscape. 
 

12. The position statement identifies six main types of renewable energy: heat pumps; 
biomass; hydropower; solar energy; wind energy; and battery storage.  
 

13. In summary and in principle, the recommendations advise that the Partnership 
would be supportive of all of these forms of renewable energy at a micro-scale (I.e. 
less than 0.5ha), provided relevant considerations have been adequately 
addressed. Small-scale forms of renewable energy (between 0.5ha-5ha), should 
be considered on a case-by-case basis with relevant landscape and visual 
considerations particularly relevant. Large-scale forms of renewable energy (5ha 
and above) are, as a whole, unlikely to be compatible with the statutory purpose of 
AONB designation.  
 

14. For renewable energy proposals within the National Landscape that are classed 
as ‘major development’ (as per Paragraph 183 and Footnote 64 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework), consideration should be given to whether exceptional 
circumstances apply that would justify permission being granted for such schemes, 
particularly in the context of the climate emergency. This again would need to be 
assessed on a case-by-case basis. 
 

15. Solar and Wind and identification of ‘suitable areas’ is also considered. Having an 
approach that is informed by landscape sensitivity assessments (LSAs) is 
beneficial as when ‘suitable areas’ are being identified, this should be underpinned 
by having regard to AONB designation considerations. In practice, this means 
undertaking a LSA and constraints mapping. These provide a more robust 

Page 13

https://www.malvernhills-nl.org.uk/position-statement-supporting-documents-for-april-2024-jac/
https://www.malvernhills-nl.org.uk/position-statement-supporting-documents-for-april-2024-jac/


 
Malvern Hills National Landscape Joint Advisory Committee – 26 April 2024 
 

evidence base to justify size thresholds and a landscape sensitivity-based 
approach (alongside size-based thresholds) should be sound. 
 

16. It is important to note that this Renewable Energy Position Statement is a ‘live’ 
document, which will be updated to reflect changes in policy and renewable energy 
technology.  
 

17. The Position Statement is aimed at a wide range of stakeholders who are involved 
in renewable energy provision in the National Landscape and its setting, 
recognising that in recent months, there have been a number of EIA 
(Environmental Impact Assessment) Screening applications, and subsequently 
likely imminent planning applications, which intend to be submitted for large-scale 
renewable energy development particularly in the setting of the Malvern Hills 
National Landscape. 
 

18. The only work that is still needed, prior to publication, is some minor editing (for 
example, numbering paragraphs) and an updated design to align with the ‘National 
Landscape’ re-branding guidelines, which staff at Worcestershire County Council 
are providing assistance with. 
 

On-Going Review  
 

19. It was agreed at the November 2023 meeting of the Committee that a formal review 
of the Position Statement would take place every five years once endorsed.  
 

20. This position statement will be beneficial as part of training sessions/presentations 
with elected members as well as Strategic, Neighbourhood Planning and 
Development Management Officers in local authorities.  

 

County Council Contact Points 
County Council: 01905 763763 
Worcestershire Hub: 01905 765765 
Email: worcestershirehub@worcestershire.gov.uk 
 
Specific Contact Points for this report 
Josh Bailey, Malvern Hills NL Planning Officer 
Tel:  01600 710845 
Email: JBailey2@worcestershire.gov.uk 
 
 
 

Page 14

mailto:worcestershirehub@worcestershire.gov.uk
mailto:JBailey2@worcestershire.gov.uk


Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

 
 

MALVERN HILLS NATIONAL LANDSCAPE 

POSITION STATEMENT 4: RENEWABLE ENERGY IN THE 
MALVERN HILLS NATIONAL LANDSCAPE AND ITS SETTING 
A quick note on terminology 

On 22 November 2023, the Malvern Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), 
was re-branded as the Malvern Hills National Landscape. National Landscape is the new 
name for a designated AONB. Consequently, the name Malvern Hills National Landscape 
is commonly used throughout this document. However, since ‘AONB’ remains the legal 
name for the designation, this term is also used in appropriate places, for example, when 
referring to the Malvern Hills AONB Management Plan, which is a statutory plan, or when 
directly quoting from older documents. The name used for the partnership associated with 
the designation is the Malvern Hills National Landscape Partnership. 

1.0 CONTEXT 

1.1 Climate Change is the biggest threat to humanity and one of the greatest threats 
to biodiversity1. Projections show a change towards warmer, wetter winters and hotter, 
drier summers, and an increasing frequency and intensity of extreme weather events 
which will continue to amplify as climate change intensifies. These changes pose risks to 
biodiversity; soil health; natural carbon stores and sequestration; crops and livestock; the 
supply of food, goods and services; the economy; and human health. Collectively, we 
need to proactively mitigate and adapt to the impacts of climate change. 

1.2 The Malvern Hills National Landscape is a landscape whose distinctive character 
and natural beauty is so outstanding, it is in the nation’s interest to safeguard it2. The 
statutory purpose of AONB designation is to conserve and enhance the natural beauty of 
the area3. Many defining features and ‘Special Qualities’4 of AONB designation are 

 
1 The National Association of Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (2019) The Colchester Declaration 
(https://landscapesforlife.org.uk/projects/colchester-declaration). 
2 Section 82 of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act (2000) 
3 Defra (2019) Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty: technical support scheme (England) 2019 to 2020. 
4 Page 9 of the Malvern Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Management Plan 2019-2024. AONBs are designated by reason 
of its special qualities; those aspects of the area’s natural beauty which make the area distinctive and are the key attributes on 
which the priorities for its conservation and enhancement are based. 

Page 15

https://landscapesforlife.org.uk/projects/colchester-declaration


Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

threatened by climate change. They are also potentially threatened by responses to 
climate change, for example, due to the visual impacts of certain types of development. 
Action is urgent but needs to be well thought out and carefully implemented. 

1.3 Within this context, the National Association for Areas of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty (NAAONB) committed to ensuring that by 2024, ‘all AONB management plans 
include meaningful measures around climate change mitigation and adaptation, including 
clear, measurable targets to support Net Zero’5. The current Malvern Hills AONB 
Management Plan (2019-2024) already advocates this through several Objectives and 
Policies – particularly Policies BDO1, BDP2 and BDP8 - recognising a need to move 
towards a more energy efficient, low-carbon economy. The forthcoming Management 
Plan review will introduce further expectation, policies, and guidance to address the 
challenges of climate change within the National Landscape and its setting, whilst 
conserving and enhancing the natural beauty of this protected landscape.  

1.4 A key component of climate change mitigation is to progress towards a more 
sustainable energy system by applying the energy hierarchy (Figure 1). The first two 
priorities aim to reduce the demand for energy and will be addressed in the forthcoming 
Management Plan review. However, we recognise that there is also a need to generate 
energy from renewable energy sources towards achieving ‘net-zero.’ This includes on-
site provision of renewable energy in new development and, where appropriate, 
retrospectively. It is Priority 3, specifically renewable energy, that is the focus of this 
Position Statement. 

Figure 1. Energy Hierarchy6 

 

1.5 Renewable energy has an important role to play in mitigating the impacts of climate 
change and is key to the commitment of reducing reliance on fossil fuels and achieving 

 
5 Refer to Footnote 1. 
6 https://www.glasgowsciencecentre.org/our-blog/the-energy-hierarchy 

Page 16

https://www.glasgowsciencecentre.org/our-blog/the-energy-hierarchy


Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

decarbonisation. There are various technologies available for producing electricity, heat, 
or both. However, without good design, their implementation in the Malvern Hills National 
Landscape and its setting may harm the 'Special Qualities,’ for instance through their 
scale or the introduction of uncharacteristic and potentially industrialising elements within 
the landscape. A key consideration is therefore to deliver aspirations in a way which is 
compatible with the statutory purpose of AONB designation. 

1.6 The level of protection afforded to designated AONBs may mean that some of its 
renewable energy provision will need to be met outside of the Malvern Hills National 
Landscape, or even its setting7. However, the Malvern Hills National Landscape 
Partnership recognises the need to contribute to renewable energy provision where 
possible as, in addition to powering and heating homes, buildings and businesses, 
renewable energy brings social and economic benefits including, but not limited to, job 
creation in manufacturing, construction and maintenance industries. 

1.7 To do this, a combination of renewable energy types, at appropriate scales, is 
needed. A carefully considered multi-functional approach can deliver positive outcomes 
for natural beauty, climate adaptation and mitigation, nature recovery and related issues, 
such as food production, in mutually supportive ways.  

1.8 This Position Statement focusses on renewable energy as a means of mitigating 
the impacts of climate change. Measures to adapt to climate change are also important 
although beyond the scope of this Position Statement. This is a ‘live’ document, which will 
be updated to reflect changes in national planning and other policy, and renewable energy 
technologies. 

2.0 PURPOSE OF THIS POSITION STATEMENT 

2.1 Position Statements expand on relevant policies in the current Malvern Hills AONB 
Management Plan, providing further context, guidance and recommendations concerning 
specific policies and associated issues. They do not create new policies. They intend to 
help local authorities, developers, and other relevant stakeholders:  

• have regard and positively contribute to the purpose of AONB designation;  
• ensure the purpose of AONB designation is not compromised by development and 

that the natural beauty of the Malvern Hills National Landscape is conserved and 
enhanced;  

• fulfil the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and 
Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) (or, where relevant, National Policy 
Statements) with regards to AONB designation and the factors that contribute to 
their natural beauty;  

 
7 Refer to Malvern Hills National Landscape Partnership Position Statement 1 on Development and Land Use Change in the Setting 
of the Malvern Hills National Landscape. 

Page 17



Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

• take account of relevant case law;  
• have regard to and be consistent with the Malvern Hills AONB Management Plan 

and guidance published by the Malvern Hills National Landscape Partnership;  
• emulate best practice in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and other protected 

landscapes; and 
• develop a consistent and coordinated approach to relevant issues across the 

whole of the Malvern Hills National Landscape and its setting8. 

2.2 Relevant authorities9 are required by law, in exercising or performing any functions 
in relation to, or so as to affect, land in an area of outstanding natural beauty, must seek 
to further the purpose of conserving and enhancing the natural beauty of the area of 
outstanding natural beauty10. In fulfilling this, it is important that relevant authorities have 
regard to guidance published by the Malvern Hills National Landscape Partnership, 
including its position statements. 

2.3 Position statements are supplementary to the statutory Malvern Hills AONB 
Management Plan. However, the Malvern Hills AONB Management Plan 2019-2024 at 
policy BDP2 states that “development proposals in the Malvern Hills AONB and its setting 
should have regard to and be compatible with guidance produced by the Partnership”. 

2.4 The Malvern Hills AONB Management Plan and, by extension, Partnership 
guidance and position statements, should be a material consideration in planning 
decision-making.  

2.5 In some instances, guidance and/or recommendations in Malvern Hills National 
Landscape publications may go further than the policies of current Local Planning 
Authority (LPA) development plans. As new iterations of LPA development plans are 
produced, we hope the recommendations will be incorporated into them as we believe 
they can positively help those who value and care for this area ensure that future 
developments contribute to the local distinctiveness and a sense of place. 

3.0 LEGISLATION, POLICY, AND GUIDANCE 

3.1. Proposals for renewable energy development within the Malvern Hills National 
Landscape and its setting should have regard to:  

 
8 Three local authority areas overlap with the Malvern Hills National Landscape, with each with local authority having its own 
development plan. One of these local authorities (Malvern Hills) produces its development plan jointly with Worcester City and 
Wychavon in the form of a single local plan for South Worcestershire Councils. 
9 In this context, ‘relevant authority’ includes any: Minister of the Crown; public body; statutory undertaker; person holding public 
office. 
10 Section 85 of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act (2000) amended following the Levelling Up and Regeneration Act (2023). 
It is noted that this applies to land in a designated AONB in England only. 

Page 18



Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

• the statutory purpose of AONB designation, which is to conserve and enhance the 
outstanding natural beauty of the area;  

• national planning policy/guidance, particularly paragraphs 11, 180, 182 and 183 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (December 2023);  

• the relevant local authority development plan and Neighbourhood Plans, if made, 
and other relevant local authority guidance and evidence. 

 
3.2 Such proposals should have regard to, and be compatible with Malvern Hills 
National Landscape Partnership publications, including its Guidance and Position 
Statements. 

3.3 It must be acknowledged that, in a plan-led planning system, it is the policies of the 
relevant adopted local authority development plan that have the greatest weight. As such, 
within this planning system, the hierarchy is as follows11: 

Decision-making is taken in accordance with the adopted development plan unless 
material planning considerations indicate otherwise. The adopted development plan 
comprises the Local Planning Authority Development Plan, and the Neighbourhood 
Development Plan, if made. 
The Malvern Hills AONB Management Plan, like the NPPF, are material planning 
considerations but do not form part of the adopted development plan. The Malvern Hills 
National Landscape Position Statements and guidance documents supplement the 
Malvern Hills AONB Management Plan. 

 

4.0 PROTECTING THE SPECIAL QUALITIES OF THE MALVERN HILLS 
NATIONAL LANDSCAPE – GENERAL CONSIDERATIONS AND ASSESSMENT 
REQUIREMENTS 

4.1 Landscape Character 

 
11 In England, Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states: “If regard is to be had to the development 
plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the Planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance 
with the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.” The National Planning Policy Framework is itself a significant 
material consideration, although it is acknowledged regarding the presumption in favour of sustainable development under 
Paragraph 11, particularly in relation to plan-making and decision-making. On Wednesday 13 September 2023, the DEFRA 
Secretary of State tabled a Written Ministerial Statement setting out a package of measures to support nature recovery in 
Protected Landscapes. The package includes a commitment to new legislation through the Levelling Up and Regeneration Act 
(2023), which will enhance National Park and AONB Management Plans by placing a stronger requirement on partners to 
contribute to their delivery. 

Page 19

https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-statements/detail/2023-09-13/hcws1021


Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

4.1.1 The Malvern Hills AONB Landscape Character Assessment (LCA) describes the 
10 (plus urban12) different landscape character types (LCTs)13 of this protected 
landscape, including their key features/characteristics. These key features/characteristics 
are re-iterated in the Malvern Hills AONB Landscape Strategy & Guidelines. For each 
LCT, the Landscape Strategy & Guidelines identifies some ‘local forces for change’ and 
their potential implications and sets out guidelines for avoiding or minimising adverse 
effects arising from them. However, other forces for change may exist that are not yet 
included in these guidelines, such as large-scale ground-mounted solar installations14 or 
the planting of energy crops.  

4.1.2 Landscape assessments for renewable energy project proposals should refer to 
the relevant landscape character areas (LCA) as a starting point; and also will need refer 
to the county wide historic landscape characterisation, where applicable15. Assessments 
should clearly demonstrate how the proposal responds positively to the existing 
landscape patterns and landforms, and how it seeks to conserve and enhance existing 
characteristic landscape elements such as vegetation and field boundaries, and important 
features. Key views should be identified and assessed. These should include 
identification and assessment of views and viewpoints within, from and to the National 
Landscape and its setting16. 

4.1.3 Photomontages should be provided. Visualisation / Computer Generated Imagery 
(CGI) is a powerful tool for communicating the potential effects of new development on 
views and the character of surrounding landscape. It can assist informed decisions and 
gives decision makers and stakeholders confidence in the appearance of a scheme and 
the effectiveness of any proposed mitigation measures. The increased reliance on CGI in 
many applications means that proposals should also consider aspects that are not shown 
within CGIs such as, but not limited to, glint and glare17. 

4.1.4 Regard should also be given to national, local authority and neighbourhood 
landscape character assessments and related evidence. However, it is important that the 

 
12 https://www.malvernhillsaonb.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/landscape-strategy-map.html and https://www.malvernhills-
nl.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/MalvernLandStratGuideLoResFinal.pdf 
13 Since publication of the Malvern Hills AONB Landscape Character Assessment, Herefordshire Council have published a revised 
Landscape Character Assessment, which includes new Landscape Character Types and names. Other LPAs are updating their 
respective Landscape Character Assessments, and the relevant Local Planning Authority should therefore be referred to in respect 
of the latest position on these matters. 
14 Whilst the term ’solar farms’ is commonly used, recent decisions issued by the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing & 
Communities do not use this term as it is not a form of ’farming’. The most appropriate wording would be solar development, 
solar power stations and installations. The position statement is altered to that effect. 
15 Note that there is not a historic landscape characterisation for Herefordshire, but there is for Worcestershire and 
Gloucestershire. 
16 Refer to Identification of Key Views To And From the Malvern Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty – A Report prepared 
by Cooper Partnership for the Malvern Hills AONB Partnership – March 2009 
17 Further guidance on how CGIs and Photomontages could be approached is provided as part of wider guidance by the 
Landscape Institute on Visualisation , as well as Section 8 of GLVIA3. 

Page 20

https://www.malvernhillsaonb.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/landscape-strategy-map.html
https://www.malvernhills-nl.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/MalvernLandStratGuideLoResFinal.pdf
https://www.malvernhills-nl.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/MalvernLandStratGuideLoResFinal.pdf
https://historicengland.org.uk/research/methods/characterisation/historic-landscape-characterisation/
https://www.landscapeinstitute.org/visualisation/


Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

assessments include independent and more granular character baseline studies to 
identify localised differences in character which often occur within LCTs. 

4.1.5 The Malvern Hills National Landscape Partnership Position Statement on 
Landscape-Led Development is particularly relevant for consideration. 

4.1.6 Renewable energy projects should prioritise use of previously developed 
(‘brownfield’) land, where possible, unless that land can be demonstrated as less suitable 
for development than other potential sites (for example, by having a high biodiversity 
value). Where any site is proposed, but particularly any greenfield sites , projects should 
benefit the local rural economy, be supported, owned and/or benefit local communities, 
protect, conserve and enhance the landscape, bring net benefits to wildlife, 
avoid/minimise loss of productive agricultural land, and avoid adverse impacts on 
biodiversity, soils, hydrology, highways, landscape character,  visual amenity, 
social/residential amenity, tranquillity, cultural heritage and the local economy. 

4.2 Other factors that contribute to natural beauty 

4.2.1 The extent to which a proposed renewable energy development might affect the 
landscape and scenic beauty of the Malvern Hills National Landscape and its setting is 
obviously a key consideration and, in planning terms, these effects should be given great 
weight18.  Many factors contribute to the natural beauty of AONB designation, including, 
but not limited to:  

• Natural heritage (including biodiversity); 
• Cultural heritage (including historic environment); and  
• Relative tranquillity19.  

 
4.2.2 More information on the factors that contribute to natural beauty is provided in 
Natural England’s ‘Guidance for assessing landscapes for designation as National Park 
or Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty’20. 
 
4.2.3 The following issues concerning visual effects & tranquillity should be considered: 
 

 
18 This ‘great weight’ is a factor in planning decisions when assessing the overall planning balance. In effect, it ‘tilts the scales’ 
towards a decision that would avoid harm to the landscape and scenic beauty of the affected designated AONB. The significance 
of applying this great weight partly depends on the significance of any adverse effects on the designated AONB. The overall 
planning balance will depend on the weight that should be given to other considerations. 
19 For further clarification on the definition and more information on tranquility, refer to the Technical Information Note published 
by the Landscape Institute - https://landscapewpstorage01.blob.core.windows.net/www-landscapeinstitute-
org/2017/02/Tranquillity-An-Overview-1-DH.pdf 
20 Natural England (2011) Guidance for assessing landscapes for designation as National Park or Areas of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty - refer to Table 3 and Appendix 1. 

Page 21

https://landscapewpstorage01.blob.core.windows.net/www-landscapeinstitute-org/2017/02/Tranquillity-An-Overview-1-DH.pdf
https://landscapewpstorage01.blob.core.windows.net/www-landscapeinstitute-org/2017/02/Tranquillity-An-Overview-1-DH.pdf


Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

Siting – one of the ’Special Qualities’ identified in the Malvern Hills AONB Management 
Plan is the ’dramatic scenery and spectacular views arising from the juxtaposition of high 
and low ground‘. Therefore, much of the designated AONB, and its setting, could be 
considered unsuitable for all but micro-scale renewable energy installations, and – 
potentially – some small-scale renewable energy projects. The conditions whereby there 
may be opportunity, and the specific considerations that should be assessed for each 
renewable energy source type, are discussed in later sections of this position statement. 
 
Agricultural Land – normally renewable energy projects should not be located on useable 
agricultural land, particularly the most productive Grade 1, 2 and 3a land. Nor should they 
be on typically low-grade hillside land where their impact would be greatest. The grade 
should be stated on any application. As recognised within the Malvern Hills AONB Natural 
Capital Scoping Study 2017, much of Grade 4 land in the designated AONB is also 
sloping, meaning that there are further considerations in terms of visual effects. 
 
Screening – it is important to note that screening cannot reduce levels of adverse effects 
on landscape character. However, screening (and softening) in the form of hedges or tree 
belts may be appropriate to help reduce visual effect, providing it is in keeping with the 
local landscape character, and does not result in the loss of key views, including from 
footpaths and bridleways crossing/in close proximity to the renewable energy project. It 
should be borne in mind that a hedge may well take ten years to grow to a height sufficient 
to provide effective concealment and tree cover longer. In addition, it may not be possible 
to screen views at all from elevated viewpoints where lower-lying development is seen 
more in plan-form, or where development is on sloping ground at a similar elevation to 
the viewer. Also, climate change itself and other factors, such as plant diseases, may 
have an impact on the long-term health and effectiveness of vegetation cover/screening. 
 
Assessments – In line with the landscape-led approach, sufficient and appropriate 
landscape and visual assessment should be employed at the pre-application stage21 to 
describe local landform and key views and the likely effects on neighbouring properties, 
local character of a settlement and public rights of way etc. For example, solar panels, 
frames/supports, and/or other infrastructure, should not detract from the local character 
of a settlement. Designated heritage assets should be considered as individual visual 
receptors within an LVIA/LVA and should be considered when selecting viewpoints. 
 
Materials & additional infrastructure –  

 
21 The Partnership recognises that if a proposal is a EIA development, then a LVIA is required to establish the effects and whether 
the effects are significant or not. LVIAs are primarily relevant to EIA development. For other development, LVAs should firstly 
establish the proposed development’s Zone of Theoretical visibility or Zone of Visual Influence. They can also be used at the pre-
application stage which can help to understand local landform and key views and the likely effects. 

Page 22



Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

a) Measures to minimise glare and visual impact should be included as supporting 
documents accompanying a planning application. 

b) Bases should be easy to remove to permit restoration of the land. 
c) Security fences, if required, should be of a design sympathetic to the local 

landscape character. Any necessary security measures should not give rise to 
adverse landscape and/or visual effects. Significant security fencing which is 
inconsistent or incompatible with the local rural environment may render a 
development unacceptable. Consideration should be given for the minimal 
length and height of any necessary security fencing, natural features such as 
hedgerows should be used to assist in site security and/or screen security 
fencing, where this is locally appropriate. In some instances, specialist fencing 
may be necessary to prevent access by deer, whilst appropriate measures 
should be in place to facilitate continued access by larger mammals, such as 
badgers and foxes.  

d) Where pole mounted CCTV facilities are proposed the location of these 
facilities should be carefully considered and designed to minimise 
visual/landscape impact. In exposed landscapes, such structures should be 
avoided. 

e) The use of security lighting should be minimised. Any lighting should utilise 
passive infra-red (PIR) technology and should be designed and installed in a 
manner which minimises glare, light pollution and effects on biodiversity, in 
particular bats. Planning applications should contain full details and 
specifications of all security and lighting installations to allow an accurate 
landscape/visual/ecological assessment of the proposal to be made. Lighting 
features should be of a sympathetic design and installed to minimise light 
pollution, which is consistent with Malvern Hills National Landscape Guidance 
on Lighting. 

f) Buildings associated with renewable energy projects, such as transformer 
stations and inverter cabinets, should be unobtrusively sited, sympathetically 
designed, and suitably shielded to minimise visual impact. 

g) Accesses – new roads and tracks should be kept to an absolute minimum, and 
be sited, designed, and built to minimise impact on the landscape. Existing 
public rights of way should not be used except in exceptional circumstances, 
due to the risk to public safety. Existing access by the public to the countryside 
should not be lost and project proposals should consider preserving the 
amenity value for users of footpaths and bridleways and demonstrate how this 
will be achieved in the construction phase and thereafter. 

h) Grid connection – a key constraint to local renewable energy production is the 
connectivity of the location of a proposed renewable energy scheme with the 
National Grid. Significant upgrading may need to be undertaken to provide this 

Page 23



Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

connectivity, which may make a scheme unviable. The consideration of 
renewable energy schemes, including the assessment of their acceptability, 
should take account of any necessary associated infrastructure such as access 
roads, cables (and whether these should be over or below ground) and ancillary 
buildings. 

i) Tranquillity - the impact of all factors affecting tranquillity22, both in construction 
and operation, should be carefully considered, especially given that this may 
be proportionately more disruptive in otherwise quiet rural areas. 

 
4.3 Manufacturing & De-Commissioning 
 
4.3.1 The manufacture and construction of some renewable energy developments, as 
well as any decommissioning/demolition phase, has its own energy and carbon cost that 
should be considered when assessing the need for the development, weighing up that 
cost alongside other impacts against the benefits the project may bring. 
 
4.3.2 Decommissioning of energy sites at the end of their useful life (for solar, quoted as 
35 to 40 years but likely to be much less as technology progresses) also poses issues 
which must be planned for. 
 
4.3.3 As a result of the temporary nature of many of renewable energy technologies, the 
Partnership would expect LPAs to apply appropriate conditions to planning permissions 
requiring the removal of any buildings and any other structures at the end of the life of the 
proposed installation or when they become obsolete, whichever is the earlier. In 
accordance with the NPPF, sites granted temporary permission should not be considered 
as constituting brownfield land. An assessment of the potential for decommissioning 
stage effects, such as harm to archaeological features/assets due to the removal of piles 
and deep ploughing, should be made at the pre-application stage and consideration 
should be given to the requirement for an outline Decommissioning Environmental 
Management Plan (DEMP) to be submitted within a planning application for renewable 
energy development, or a DEMP to be secured via a condition of planning permission, 
where relevant. 
  
4.3.4 In addition, local authorities should require proposals to demonstrate how solar 
panels and batteries will be recycled or how toxic waste will be disposed of, as part of 
relevant applications. 
 

 
22 Refer to Landscape Institute Technical Information Note – Tranquility: An Overview - 
https://landscapewpstorage01.blob.core.windows.net/www-landscapeinstitute-org/2017/02/Tranquillity-An-
Overview-1-DH.pdf 

Page 24

https://landscapewpstorage01.blob.core.windows.net/www-landscapeinstitute-org/2017/02/Tranquillity-An-Overview-1-DH.pdf
https://landscapewpstorage01.blob.core.windows.net/www-landscapeinstitute-org/2017/02/Tranquillity-An-Overview-1-DH.pdf


Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

4.4 Restoring the site 
 
4.4.1 Planning permission granted for some renewable energy projects, especially wind 
turbines and large-scale ground mounted solar installations, are generally considered 
temporary and granted for a restricted time period23, after which they can be renewed, as 
appropriate. Restricting the development lifetime is a mechanism for ensuring that 
outdated/inefficient/redundant development is removed. 
 
4.4.2 A site Restoration and Reinstatement Strategy in the form of a legal agreement 
should be sought and agreed with LPA Officers, in consultation with the Malvern Hills 
National Landscape Team, at pre-application stage, and thence secured by condition, if 
planning permission is granted, with a monitoring clause to ensure restoration of any 
relevant land to agricultural (or other) usage once the consent or use has terminated and 
a condition imposed that all equipment associated with the development is removed. The 
agreement should demonstrate how and when the site will be returned to a state that is 
in good landscape and ecological condition and in keeping with local landscape character 
and Biodiversity Net Gain obligations. New appropriate elements in the landscape may 
also be considered for inclusion in the Restoration and Reinstatement Strategy, such as 
a wildlife corridor that could contribute to a local nature recovery strategy or new public 
right of way. 
 
4.4.3 Food security is relevant given the UK imports 40% of the food it consumes, and 
this is rising24. As global food prices rise, agricultural land, even of lower grades, should 
not be misused by change of use to inefficient renewable energy schemes and its 
restoration at the end of life of a scheme is important. 
 
5. ASSESSMENT OF IMPACTS 
 
5.1 Cumulative Impacts 
 
5.1.1 The cumulative landscape and visual impact of a proposed renewable energy 
scheme (and any associated infrastructure) is a key consideration. The Government’s 
PPG for Renewable and Low Carbon Energy states that: “There are no hard and fast 
rules about how suitable areas for renewable energy should be identified, but in 
considering locations, local planning authorities will need to ensure they taken into 

 
23 The Feed in Tariff for solar PV applies for a period of 25 years therefore developments should normally be regarded as 
temporary, hence the need for ‘reversibility’, and the ability for all structures to be removed and the land returned to its original 
use. 

24 Food Matters: Towards a strategy for the 21st Century: 
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/http:/www.cabinetoffice.gov.uk/strategy/work_areas/food_policy.aspx 

Page 25



Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

account … critically, the potential impacts on the local environment, including from 
cumulative impacts. (N.B. Underlining added for emphasis)25. 
 
5.1.2 Cumulative landscape impacts and cumulative visual impacts are best considered 
separately. Cumulative landscape impacts are the effects of a proposed development on 
the fabric, character, and quality of the landscape. Cumulative visual effects concern the 
degree to which proposed renewable energy development will become a feature in 
particular views (or sequences of views) and the impact this has upon the people 
experiencing those views26. There is also a need to have regard to all of the other likely 
cumulative effects, and inter- and/or intra-project. 
 
5.1.3 With regards to cumulative visual impacts, this is particularly important for large-
scale wind energy proposals, which can potentially be seen from many miles away. 
Infrastructure that is likely to result in cumulative effects includes: other wind 
developments; overhead powerlines; and telecommunications masts and other vertical 
structures27. 
 
5.1.4 Proposals should set out suitable assessments of effects on biodiversity, 
hydrology, archaeology, built heritage, landscape (including historic landscape features), 
amenity (including of existing public rights of way) etc. and transport assessments should 
consider access and vehicle movements during all stages of construction and 
development. 
 
5.1.5 Renewable energy development should not create a “buffer zone” or ring around 
the Malvern Hills National Landscape, and the potential impact of renewable energy 
projects close to the boundary will be a material consideration in the planning process. 
 
5.2 Major Development28 
 
5.2.1 Consideration should be given to whether a proposed renewable energy 
development constitutes ‘major development’ in the context of paragraph 183 of the 

 
25 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/renewable-and-low-carbon-energy 
26 Further information on this is detailed within National Policy Statements EN1 and EN3. Planning Practice Guidance also 
recognises that the cumulative impacts of development on the landscape also need to be considered carefully. 
27 Guidelines for Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 3rd Edition (GLVIA3) talks specifically about cumulative effects and 
not just about consented and built development. Planning Practice Guidance also goes further on this specific matter. 
28 For the relevance of this position statement, we recognise that Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects (NSIPs) or 
Nationally Significant Projects (NSPs) may also need to be factored in, as they could be proposed within the setting of the National 
Landscape. The relevant NSIP/NSP process should always be followed in this regard. NSIPs constitute a small subset of the number 
of planning applications that could be considered major but for the purposes of this position statement, all planning applications 
for renewable energy projects need to be assessed as to whether they constitute major development. 

Page 26

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/renewable-and-low-carbon-energy


Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

NPPF29. Footnote 64 of the NPPF states that ‘whether a proposal is major development 
is a matter for the decision maker, taking into account its nature, scale and setting, and 
whether it could have a significant adverse impact on the purposes for which the area has 
been designated’.  

5.2.2 Paragraph 183 of the NPPF states that ‘permission should be refused for major 
development other than in exceptional circumstances and where it can be demonstrated 
that the development is in the public interest’. The NPPF requires several major 
development ‘tests’ to be applied, as outlined below. 

5.2.2.1 Major Development Test A – assessing the need for the development 

The priority given to climate change, through the declaration of the climate and ecological 
emergencies, would potentially make it easier to demonstrate ‘exceptional need’ for 
renewable energy proposals. Genuine community-led renewable energy schemes30, 
which have robust evidence of need specific to the community and which have 
appropriate funding and administrative mechanisms in place, are more likely to 
demonstrate ‘exceptional need’ than schemes that meet a more generic need. It should 
be noted however that exceptional need does not necessarily equate to exceptional 
circumstances31. For example, there may be other, more suitable ways of mitigating the 
impacts of climate change (or delivering renewable energy) or less harmful locations for 
the proposed development.  

5.2.2.2 Major Development Test B – assessing the cost of, and scope for, developing 
outside the designated area or meeting the need in some other way: 

Case law has stated that ‘no permission should be given for major development save to 
the extent the development met a need that could not be addressed elsewhere’32. As 
such, all other things being equal, it could be argued that if there are areas outside the 
Malvern Hills National Landscape (within a local authority area) that are identified as 
having equal or lesser landscape sensitivity to the type and scale of renewable energy 
development being proposed, then preference should be given to locating the 
development in those locations. Consideration should also be given to whether the 
proposed scheme is the most effective way of mitigating the impacts of climate change 
or is the most appropriate form of renewable energy. Consideration should be given to 

 
29 Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government (2023) National Planning Policy Framework - Paragraph 183 and 
footnote 64. 
30 Genuine community-led schemes could include proposals included in neighbourhood plans or other projects, such as the 
Community Visioning schemes being piloted by CPRE and should have undergone appropriate community consultation processes. 
31 This principle is recognised in relevant case law (R (Mevagissey Parish Council) v Cornwall Council [2013] EHWC 3684 (Admin) 
(link), paragraph 52): ‘Even if there were an exceptional need … that would not necessarily equate to exceptional circumstances 
for a particular development, because there may be alternative sites that are more suitable because development there would 
result in less harm to the AONB landscape’. 
32 R (Advearse) v Dorset Council v Hallam Land Management Ltd [2020] EWHC 807 (link). Direct quote from paragraph 35. 

Page 27



Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

whether there are suitable nature-based alternatives for mitigating the impacts of climate 
change.  

5.2.2.3 Major Development Test C – assessing any detrimental effect on the environment, 
the landscape and recreational opportunities, and the extent to which that could be 
moderated:  

In relation to this test, case law has stated that ‘no permission should be given for major 
development save to the extent the development … met that need in a way that to the 
extent possible, moderated detrimental effect on the environment, landscape and 
recreational opportunities’33. As such, renewable energy proposals that constitute major 
development should be required to demonstrate that they have a) avoided; and b) 
minimised any potential detrimental effects (to the extent possible) in this regard. The 
higher the level of landscape sensitivity associated with the scale and type of renewable 
energy development being proposed, the more this will weigh against permission being 
granted on the grounds of exceptional circumstances and public interest.  

5.3 Mitigation Measures 

5.3.1 Mitigation measures should be considered as an integral part of the development; 
they should adequately offset any adverse historic environment, landscape and/or visual 
effects and be appropriate to the local landscape character. The mitigation and reduction 
of some adverse impacts can be achieved through considered detailed design.  

5.3.2  Mitigation measures to address adverse effects are a minimum; they should also 
be accompanied with measures to maintain and enhance the value and condition of the 
landscape and contribute to local distinctiveness, for example, through the creation of 
appropriate new habitats34. . Landscape/visual mitigation cannot be double-counted as 
landscape/visual enhancement.  
5.3.3 Applicants will be expected to maximise the ecological potential offered by such 
circumstances by a) avoiding areas of ecological importance or sensitivity, b) encouraging 
and promoting a diverse range of habitats, such as wildflower meadows, within such 
facilities, and c) designing and adapting built structures, such as control buildings, to 
encourage and promote access by nesting, roosting or hibernating animals such as bats. 

5.4 Development in the setting of the Malvern Hills National Landscape 

5.4.1 Renewable energy development in the setting of the Malvern Hills National 
Landscape has the potential to adversely affect the natural beauty of the designated 

 
33 R (Advearse) v Dorset Council v Hallam Land Management Ltd [2020] EWHC 807 (link). Direct quote from paragraph 35. 
34 For the purposes of this position statement, mitigation is a measure proposed to remedy, reduce or avoid adverse effects, 
whereas enhancement are measures proposed to improve the baseline situation. GLVIA3 further clarifies what is meant by 
’enhancement’. 

Page 28



Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

AONB, particularly with regards to impacts on views from and to the Malvern Hills National 
Landscape. 

5.4.2 Paragraph 182 of the NPPF states that ‘great weight35 should be given to 
conserving and enhancing landscape and scenic beauty’ in designated AONBs. Case law 
has clarified that this great weight should be applied to development outside a designated 
AONB, as well as to development within it, where the proposed development may 
adversely affect the landscape and scenic beauty of the AONB36. Application of this 
particular case law example would consider effects on views from the designated AONB 
but not effects on views looking towards the Malvern Hills National Landscape37.  

5.4.3 However, impacts on views towards the Malvern Hills National Landscape are still 
an important material consideration, particularly in relation to views looking towards the 
Malvern Hills, with these views being one of the ‘special qualities’ of the designated 
AONB. And in terms of the views from the Malvern Hills National Landscape, the 
topography means that a larger area may need to be considered in terms of potential 
effects on views than in a designated AONB without such elevations. This is especially 
the case for visual receptors on the Malvern Hills themselves38. Other relevant 
considerations include the potential increase in traffic movements through the Malvern 
Hills National Landscape (or along its boundary) that may result from a proposed 
development.  

5.4.4 Paragraph 182 of the NPPF states that ‘development within [the setting of AONBs] 
should be sensitively located and designed in order to minimise adverse impacts on the 
designated area’. The Malvern Hills National Landscape Partnership position statement 
on development and land use change in the setting of the Malvern Hills National 
Landscape and also the Malvern Hills AONB Environs Landscape and Visual Sensitivity 
Study provide some relevant information on this topic.  

5.5 EIA 

5.5.1 Where renewable energy proposals fall under Schedule 2 of the Environmental 
Impact Assessment (EIA) Regulations39, consideration should be given to whether an EIA 

 
35 This ‘great weight’ is a factor in planning decisions when assessing the overall planning balance. In effect, it ‘tilts the scales’ 
towards a decision that would avoid harm to the landscape and scenic beauty of the affected designated AONB. The significance 
of applying this great weight partly depends on the significance of any adverse effects on the designated AONB. The overall 
planning balance will depend on the weight that should be given to other considerations. 
36 Stroud District Council v Secretary of State & Gladman Developments Ltd [2015] EWHC 488 (link). Paragraphs 20-22. 
37 The Malvern Hills National Landscape Guidance on Views and Viewpoints and Guidance on Respecting Landscape in Views 
provides further assistance. 
38 The Malvern Hills National Landscape Guidance on Views and Viewpoints and Guidance on Respecting Landscape in Views 
provides further assistance. 
39 Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 

Page 29



Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

is required, particularly if the proposal is above the ‘applicable thresholds and criteria’ for 
Schedule 2 development40.  

5.5.2 EIAs are required where it is considered that the proposal is likely to have a 
significant effect on the environment. In such circumstances, it is highly likely that the 
proposal should also be considered major development, in the context of paragraph 183 
and footnote 64 of the NPPF.  

5.5.3 Consultation with the Local Planning Authority and local community is encouraged 
at an early stage. The local community should be engaged, by the developer, at the pre-
design, conceptual stage, ideally utilising a local exhibition / presentation where 
community views can be sought and recorded.  

5.5.4 As a starting point, the proposal should be assessed against the selection criteria 
in Schedule 3 of the EIA Regulations. In general, an EIA is likely to be needed for 
Schedule 2 developments if the development is in a particularly environmentally sensitive 
or vulnerable location. In each case it will be necessary to judge whether the likely effects 
on the environment of that development will be significant in that particular location. In 
judging whether the effects of a development are likely to be significant it is necessary to 
have regard in particular to landscape character and visual amenity and the degree to 
which these will be affected by the installation of the development, and also the possible 
cumulative effect with any existing or approved development. This should include 
situations where there is more than one application for development which should be 
considered together. Any views expressed by consultees should be considered. Advice 
should be sought from consultees where there is any doubt about the significance of a 
development’s likely effects on a ‘sensitive area’ as defined in the EIA Regulations, 
including setting. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

• The Malvern Hills National Landscape Partnership recommends that any 
renewable energy projects in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and its 
setting should prioritise ‘brownfield’ land.  

• Greenfield sites should be avoided except in exceptional circumstances, for 
example if the risk of harm is considered lower than the brownfield site(s) 
available. 

•  All renewable energy projects should have regard to the considerations and 
guidance on mitigating impacts set out in this paper and other Malvern Hills 

 
40 It is worth noting that the ‘applicable thresholds and criteria’ in Schedule 2 of the Environmental Impact Assessment 
Regulations do not apply in designated AONBs. This is because AONBs are classed as ‘sensitive areas,’ in this regard. As such, 
Schedule 2 development within the Malvern Hills National Landscape that is smaller than the applicable thresholds and criteria 
may also need to be screened to assess if an EIA is required. 

Page 30



Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

National Landscape Partnership publications. In this way they will fulfil their 
obligations to protect, conserve, and enhance the distinctive character and 
natural beauty of the designated AONB and its setting, including its ‘Special 
Qualities’.  

• The cumulative impacts of a renewable energy development proposal should 
be assessed in decision making. 

• Renewable energy proposals should demonstrate they have considered the 
whole-life impacts of a scheme, including construction and decommissioning 
phases, and restoration of the site. 

• Larger projects should benefit the local rural economy, be supported and/or 
owned by local communities where possible and avoid unjustified loss of 
productive agricultural land. 

• Renewable energy landscape and visual sensitivity assessments, including 
those commissioned by local authorities, should have regard to relevant 
guidance published by the Malvern Hills National Landscape Partnership. 

 

6.0 TYPES OF RENEWABLE ENERGY 

6.0.1 This position statement identifies six main types of renewable energy: heat pumps; 
biomass; hydropower; solar energy; wind energy; and battery storage. These are 
individually addressed in this section, including relevant considerations and key 
constraints specific to each type of renewable energy.  

6.1 Heat Pumps  

6.1.1 There are three main types of heat pump:  

• Ground-source heat pumps (GSHP): takes low-level heat, which occurs naturally 
underground, and converts it to high-grade heat using an electrically driven or gas-
powered heat pump. GSHP systems collect or deliver heat using ground collectors 
(typically coils or loops of pipe laid in trenches in the ground or vertical boreholes), 
in which a heat exchange fluid circulates in a closed loop and transfers heat via a 
heat exchanger to or from the heat pump. Once installed, there are no externally 
visible features. 

• Air-source heat pumps (ASHP): takes low-level heat, which occurs naturally in the 
air, and convert it to high-grade heat by using an electrically driven or gas-powered 
pump. ASHP are typically mounted on an external wall (sometimes under a 
window). Increasingly, manufacturers are producing internally mounted air source 
heat pumps which only need louvers and/or roof vents for air supply/exhaust 
emissions (as in a conventional boiler). Once installed, the only externally visible 
structure may be the ‘air conditioning unit’ associated with the heat pump facility. 

Page 31



Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

Depending on the manufacturer, ASHP may be no louder than a central heating 
boiler.  

• Water-source heat pumps (WSHP): extracts heat from a body of water and 
converts it into useful energy to heat the home.  

6.1.2 Heat pumps are generally ‘permitted development’41, although rights are restrictive 
with regards to listed buildings, conservation areas, scheduled monuments, and World 
Heritage sites. In most cases, proposals are likely to be domestic in scale and, due to 
relatively limited landscape impact, will normally be acceptable and supported. Any 
reinstatement of land should be carefully, and sensitively undertaken and historic 
landscapes should, wherever possible, be avoided. 

6.1.3 If buildings are needed to house equipment, this may require planning permission 
and should be carefully sited and designed, using appropriate materials.  

6.1.4 Fitting of heat pumps is likely to be easier for new development than retrofitting. 
However, retrofitting may be appropriate where there is available space.  

6.1.5 Heat pumps use electricity so still potentially contribute to greenhouse gas 
emissions (depending on the source of the electricity). However, they can offer carbon 
emission savings of at least 20%, rising to 100% when their operation is compared with 
that of conventional gas boilers42. 

6.1.6 The following checklist should be considered:  

• During construction, the laying of pipes linked to GSHP should avoid disturbing 
ground which would be difficult to restore, such as unimproved grasslands, semi-
natural habitats, tree roots and archaeological remains. A Local Planning Authority 
may require an archaeological survey before construction.  

• Underground pipework associated with GSHP should be covered with soft or hard 
surfaces, which reflect local soils/geology and landscape character type. 

• ASHP should be on the least visible elevations, if externally mounted.  

 
41 Permitted development rights allow the improvement or extension of buildings or uses of such buildings without the need to 
apply for planning permission, where that would be out of proportion with the impact of the works carried out. 
42 We accept that data does vary depending on the parameters of a study, the efficiency of the boiler to which the heat pump is 
being compared to, and the source of the electricity being used to run the heat pump. One research article for example suggests 
the 30% figure; notably it looks at the whole lifecycle analysis of heat pumps and gas boilers. 
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0378778821001493. Meanwhile Hamworthy Heating 
(https://hamworthy-heating.com/Knowledge/Articles/Heat-Pumps-Role-in-the-Net-Zero-Goal) cite the Carbon Trust 
report of “heat pumps used for heating can offer carbon emission savings of around 30% when compared to conventional natural 
gas boilers but when heat pumps are partnered with a renewable electricity supplier, heat generation is 100% carbon neutral”. 
Carbon Brief (https://www.carbonbrief.org/heat-pumps-are-the-central-technology-for-low-carbon-heating-
concludes-iea/) reports that the International Energy Agency “estimates that heat pumps currently cut emissions by at least 20% 
compared to a gas boiler even when running on emissions-intensive electricity. This can rise to 80% when running on a cleaner 
grid. 

Page 32

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0378778821001493
https://hamworthy-heating.com/Knowledge/Articles/Heat-Pumps-Role-in-the-Net-Zero-Goal
https://www.carbonbrief.org/heat-pumps-are-the-central-technology-for-low-carbon-heating-concludes-iea/
https://www.carbonbrief.org/heat-pumps-are-the-central-technology-for-low-carbon-heating-concludes-iea/


Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

• Measures should be taken to minimise impacts on neighbouring land uses. 
• Quiet models should be selected, to minimise any impacts on tranquillity and other 

Special Qualities of the designated AONB. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
• The Malvern Hills National Landscape Partnership supports the use of heat 

pumps, in principle, provided relevant considerations have been adequately 
addressed, including:  

o size and siting;  
o noise impacts;  
o impacts on historic landscapes and archaeology; and  
o safeguarding existing trees/hedgerows and priority habitats, 

particularly during construction and operation. 
• Underground pipework should be covered with soft or hard surfaces which 

matches local soils and geology where possible.  
• Reinstatement of land should be carefully and sensitively undertaken, to 

avoid compromising the ‘Special Qualities’ of AONB designation. 
 

6.2 Biomass 

6.2.1.1  Biomass refers to the use of a wide variety of organic material for the generation 
of heat, electricity, or motive power. The two primary types of biomass energy are:  

• Woody biomass (wood and energy crops).  
• Wet biomass (food waste and farm wastes).  

6.2.1.2 For electricity production, the heat/steam is used to turn a turbine. There are 
currently three basic categories of biomass plants:  

• Plants designed primarily to produce electricity. These are generally the largest 
schemes, in the range of 10–40 MW. Excess heat from the process is not utilised. 
These are major multimillion pound developments and are unlikely to be suitable 
within the Malvern Hills National Landscape or its setting because of scale and 
associated traffic movements. They are not considered further and proposals for 
such would not be supported by the Malvern Hills National Landscape Partnership.  

• Combined Heat and Power (CHP) plants where the purpose is the generation of 
electricity, but excess heat is utilised. Size range is 5-30 MW thermal total energy 
output but smaller 'packaged' schemes of a few hundred KW are possible.  

• Plants designed for production of heat. These cover a wide range of applications 
from domestic wood burning stoves and biomass boilers to boilers of a scale 

Page 33



Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

suitable for district heating, commercial and community buildings and industrial 
process heat. Sizes range from a few KW to above 5 MW of thermal energy. 

6.2.2 Wood  

6.2.2.1 Use of wood for fuel boilers is not only a renewable energy source but may have 
additional benefits. For example, it can provide economic incentive to bring woodlands 
within the Malvern Hills National Landscape back into active management. Active 
management of deciduous woodlands through coppicing, pollarding, ride widening, and 
other forestry operations helps create warm, sunlit micro-habitats that benefit insects and 
wildflowers and provide better nesting habitat for many of our rarest woodland birds43. 
Use of wood can have the benefit of recovering, from the waste stream, waste wood that 
would otherwise go to landfill. Care is needed to ensure management of woodlands does 
not become unsustainable (e.g. because of over-exploitation), as demand increases. In 
respect of woodland ownership, it is recognised that the economies of scale required for 
cost-effective wood production are only occasionally achievable and that, other than in 
Forestry Commission woodlands, rarely is there adequate access for lorries of the size 
now commonly used for timber transportation. 

6.2.2.2 New and on-going management of woodland will be required to facilitate nature 
recovery and mitigate impacts of climate change44. Any new woodland/SRC would need 
to undergo an EIA for woodland by the Forestry Commission45 and be UK Forest 
Standard compliant46. 

6.2.3 Fuel crops  

6.2.3.1 There may be potential for biofuel from other crops (i.e., energy crops) such as 
miscanthus and short rotation coppice (SRC). Developments are likely to have limited 
impacts, if undertaken on a small scale. However, careful consideration will need to be 
given for larger-scale use of land for growing such crops as they are likely to have an 
adverse impact on landscape character (for example, as a monoculture that is alien to 
the locally-distinctive farmed landscape), biodiversity, water quality and soil quality (for 
example, as a result of winter harvesting) and visual amenity due to height and semi-
permanent/permanent nature and, in the case of SRC, their long rotation cycle.  

 
43 https://www.worcswildlifetrust.co.uk/woodlands/managing-our-woodlands 
44 It is estimated that only 55% of woodland in the Malvern Hills AONB is actively managed currently. Many tree species are 
coming under acute stress from new pests and diseases and periods of intense weather (e.g., storms and drought). Loss of key 
species such as ash will accelerate change, particularly in unmanaged woodland – taken from Malvern Hills AONB Nature 
Recovery Plan (2022) 
45 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-uk-forestry-standard 
46https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-uk-forestry-standard 

Page 34

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-uk-forestry-standard
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-uk-forestry-standard


Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

6.2.3.2 Large-scale fuel crop schemes would also likely conflict with other land use 
priorities, including food production, nature recovery and woodland planting.  

6.2.3.3 Where fuel crops are being introduced, the potential for impacts on landscape 
character should be fully assessed, as should any potential impacts on sensitive sites, 
including permanent grassland, common land, SSSIs, other sites of nature conservation 
importance, and historic landscapes.  

6.2.4 Wood and fuel crops – additional considerations  

6.2.4.1 Whilst burning biomass does release CO2 emissions, CO2 is absorbed from the 
atmosphere during the growth of the source material and so the net lifecycle CO2 
emissions are theoretically zero, although the time over which this “carbon debt” is repaid 
can be long. In addition, all biomass fuels also have an associated CO2 intensity due to 
the additional energy required for collection, processing, and distribution, as well as for 
the construction and maintenance of a biomass facility. Transportation can be a large 
element of this for raw fuels, whilst heavily processed fuels such as wood pellets will 
require additional energy input during the process stages.  

6.2.4.2 For proposals involving energy production from biomass, consideration should be 
given to whether such proposals require an EIA, particularly where the development area 
exceeds 0.5ha47. Consideration should also be given to whether a scheme constitutes 
‘major development’48. 

6.2.4.3 Biomass boilers are also a potential source of air pollution, particularly with 
regards to particulates. Appropriate measures would need to be put in place to protect air 
quality. Firewood is now required to have a moisture content of 20% or less, which should 
help to address this issue, but industry should be encouraged to improve the efficiency of 
stoves and boilers to reduce harmful emissions. Use of domestic woodburning stoves 
should not be encouraged, due to potential impacts on air quality.  

6.2.4.4 Transport of wood or crops to any energy production plant will increase vehicle 
movements unless the plant is adjacent to the source of fuel. To avoid unnecessary 
infrastructure, plants should be as close to the settlements or facilities they serve, so an 
appropriate locational balance must be struck. For this reason, and to avoid greater visual 
and other effects likely to be caused by large-scale plants, small-scale plants would be 
preferable. Suitable schemes could include heating schemes for country estates and 
small-scale community heating schemes.  

6.2.4.5 Priority should be given to using existing buildings, to house biomass facilities and 
to dry or process wood and other biomass. Where new buildings are required, siting, 

 
47 Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017. Development type 3(a). 
48 In the context of paragraph 177 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2023). 

Page 35



Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

scale, design, colour, and materials used should be carefully considered and be 
compatible with the AONB designation and its special qualities49.  

3.2.4.6 Biomass provides a relatively small amount of energy per hectare of land used. 
For example, solar energy can provide over 40 times as much energy per hectare as 
biomass50. A very large area of land would be needed for energy crops to deliver 
significant levels of renewable energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape. This is 
likely to adversely affect landscape character and scenic beauty, including tranquillity 
(due to related traffic movements), and may compromise food production, biodiversity, 
and nature recovery. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
• Wood: In principle, the Malvern Hills National Landscape Partnership would 

be supportive of small-scale wood fuel schemes which use locally sourced 
wood from sustainably managed woodlands within the Malvern Hills National 
Landscape, provided relevant considerations have been clearly addressed.  

• Fuel crops: In principle, the Malvern Hills National Landscape Partnership 
would be supportive of small-scale fuel crop schemes, provided that relevant 
considerations have been clearly addressed.  

• Woody Biomass: Priority should be given to active management and 
utilisation of woodland (for supplying timber for wood fuel) in the Malvern 
Hills National Landscape over schemes that rely on the planting of energy 
crops, especially short rotation coppice. 

 

6.2.5 Wet biomass – anaerobic digesters  

6.2.5.1 Anaerobic digestion (AD) is a process in which bacteria break down organic 
material in the absence of oxygen to produce a methane-rich biogas, which can be 
combusted to generate electricity and heat. Anaerobic digesters utilise farm and food 
wastes. They make a significant contribution to reducing greenhouse gas emissions, 
reducing the quantities of methane released into the atmosphere, and providing a low 
carbon energy source that substitutes for energy generated from fossil fuels. 

6.2.5.2 An AD plant typically consists of a digester tank, buildings to house ancillary 
equipment, a biogas storage tank, and a flare stack (3–10 metres in height). The digester 
tank is usually cylindrical or egg-shaped, its size being determined by the projected 

 
49 Having regard to position statements other guidance produced by the Malvern Hills National Landscape Partnership: 
https://www.malvernhillsaonb.org.uk/our-work/planning/guidance-documents/   
50 https://www.biofuelwatch.org.uk/2018/biomass-and-land-use/  

Page 36

https://www.malvernhillsaonb.org.uk/our-work/planning/guidance-documents/
https://www.biofuelwatch.org.uk/2018/biomass-and-land-use/


Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

volume and nature of the waste. It can be part buried in the ground. There are two scales 
of anaerobic digestion plant:  

• Small scale plants dealing with the waste from a single farm (generating in the 
region of 10kW) with the biogas potentially used to heat the farmhouse and other 
farm buildings in the winter when farm wastes are available.  

• A medium-sized centralised facility dealing with wastes from several farms 
supplemented by other feedstocks and potentially producing up to 2MW. 

6.2.5.3 The effects that may arise from any development in terms of visual intrusion, 
noise, odour, associated traffic movements and associated infrastructure, including 
overhead powerlines and pylons or poles, must be carefully considered. AD plants serving 
a single or small number of local farms may be appropriate within the Malvern Hills 
National Landscape and its setting, provided the development can be incorporated within 
an existing farmstead; uses locally sourced, organic farm waste and/or sewage sludge 
material; is of an appropriate scale; is not visually intrusive; is constructed using 
appropriate materials; and is suitably landscaped to ensure the natural beauty of the area 
is conserved or enhanced, ensuring the ‘Special Qualities’ are not compromised.  

6.2.5.4 Where crops are grown specifically as a feedstock for AD plants e.g. maize, this 
would raise similar issues to the growing of fuel crops in relation to competing land uses, 
water quality and impact on soils. 

6.2.5.5 Large new buildings or structures on greenfield sites within the Malvern Hills 
National Landscape or its setting are unlikely to be supported by the Malvern Hills 
National Landscape Partnership. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
• In relation to wet biomass, in principle, the Malvern Hills National Landscape 

Partnership would be supportive of small-scale anaerobic digestion (AD) 
plant schemes that use locally sourced, organic farm waste and/or sewage 
sludge, provided relevant considerations have been clearly addressed, 
including: 

o Integrating or locating adjacent to existing buildings or farmsteads; 
greenfield sites should be avoided; 

o The digester tank should be part buried in the ground; 
o Installations should not be in prominent locations or exposed 

skylines – the flare stack can be prominent; 
o Installations should not affect the historical significance of 

designated industrial features, historic monuments and 

Page 37



Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

archaeological sites and remains, or the ecological value of semi-
natural habitats;  

o Installations should not adversely affect the character and 
appearance of any Conservation Areas and listed buildings;  

o Suitable materials (such as cladding of buildings), and colours 
should be used that integrate structures with their surroundings;  

o Tree planting (using native species) that helps filter views of the AD 
plant should be considered; and 

o Measures taken to minimise any visual, odour and noise impacts on 
the amenity of neighbouring land uses associated with the operation 
of the plant and deliveries of feedstocks. 

• Large new buildings and structures associated with AD plants within the 
Malvern Hills National Landscape or its setting, and/or schemes that import 
large quantities of material, are unlikely to be supported, because of the scale 
of the development and the vehicular movements required to supply 
feedstock, particularly in tranquil, rural areas where human influence is 
limited, and in areas of semi-natural habitat and/or  historic landscapes. 

 

6.3 Hydropower  

6.3.1 Hydropower uses water flowing through a turbine to drive a generator that 
produces electricity. It is a highly site-specific technology, dependent on being near a 
water body that is both flowing and has a sufficient drop in level that can be exploited.  

6.3.2 The potential for hydro-electric proposals are therefore very limited within the 
Malvern Hills National Landscape and its setting due to geographical and environmental 
restrictions, although there may be scope for micro- or small-scale projects 

6.3.3 Schemes involving installations for hydroelectric energy production, consideration 
should be given to whether they require an EIA, particularly where an installation is 
designed to produce more than 0.5 megawatts and/or where the area of the development 
would exceed 0.5 hectares51. Consideration should be given to whether a scheme 
constitutes ‘major development’52. Consents from the Environment Agency will also be 
required. Consideration is needed to be given to the impacts of infrastructure e.g. cabling 
required to connect the hydropower development to the grid. 

RECOMMENDATION 
 

 
51 Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017. Development type 3(h) 
and 3(a). 
52 Refer to Footnote 15. 

Page 38



Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

In relation to hydropower, the Malvern Hills National Landscape Partnership 
would be supportive of micro or small-scale schemes, provided that relevant 
considerations have been adequately addressed. Proposals should:  

o Ensure equipment is placed either in existing buildings or new ones 
of an appropriate scale and design;  

o Use the existing head of water from existing impoundments without 
affecting the river flow;  

o Ensure noise levels do not adversely affect tranquillity;  
o Ensure aquatic life is not detrimentally affected; and,  
o Operate without prejudicing progress towards achieving ecological 

objectives under the Water Framework Directive. 

 

6.4 Solar Energy  

6.4.1 Solar Energy – general information 

6.4.1.1 There are two types of solar energy:  

• Photovoltaic panels or tiles that generate electricity from the sun’s energy – these 
can be used at both domestic and commercial scale.  

• Solar panels or ‘collectors’ (flat plate or evacuated tubes) that use the sun’s 
radiation to heat water – these are used at a domestic and commercial scale. 

6.4.1.2 In addition to the considerations for all renewable energy schemes provided in 
Section 4 above, a checklist of further issues to be considered for solar energy proposals 
is below:  

• Consider views both from and to the Malvern Hills themselves, local viewpoints, 
and from popular tourist and scenic routes.  

• Avoid locating solar PV where they could be directly overlooked at close quarters 
from important or sensitive viewpoints.  

• Maintain uninterrupted views from the Malvern Hills themselves to the internal 
landscape to preserve the area’s remote and strong cultural and historic sense of 
place.  

• Site freestanding solar PV development on flat landforms or on lower slopes/within 
folds in gently undulating lowland landscapes.  

•  Ensure the development does not comprise the distinctive characteristics of 
different LCTs e.g. by it spanning across two contrasting types of LCT. 

•  Although screening by vegetation is not considered to be appropriate or adequate 
mitigation for landscape and visual adverse effects and cannot be relied upon (see 
4.2.3. above), siting developments in landscapes where screening is already 

Page 39



Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

provided by woodland, hedgebanks or high hedges may be less harmful than in 
open countryside and should be considered. Where new screen planting is 
required the Malvern Hills National Landscape Partnership should be consulted on 
the appropriate choice of species. 

• Avoid adversely affecting areas of semi-natural habitat and designated and non-
designated historic assets and archaeological sites directly or indirectly.  

• Protect the character and setting of Conservation Areas and the elements, as well 
as buildings which contribute to their special architectural or historic interest.  

• Ensure that any PV developments do not detract from prominent landmarks.  
• Protect the ‘Special Qualities,’ as detailed within the Malvern Hills AONB 

Management Plan. 
• Measures should be taken to minimise any visual53 and noise impacts on the 

amenity of neighbouring land uses, for instance residential and recreational use. 
• Avoid siting PV developments across multiple fields in areas where a small-scale 

irregular field pattern is important and a particular feature of the landscape 
character.  

• Previous solar development proposals should not set a precedent or justification 
for further development due to the potential for adverse cumulative effects, and to 
avoid its landscape character description ending up as a solar landscape. 

• Consider how panels and other infrastructure will be transported to site. 
Installations may require abnormally large delivery vehicles, and/or large fleets and 
frequency of vehicle deliveries. The impacts of these and the construction route, 
for example on important landscape and historic features or loss of these and to 
their users, and any amenity value, should be considered in decision making as 
well as mitigation measures embedded in any scheme. 

• Suitable materials and colour finishes should be used to integrate any new 
buildings/structures/surfaces with their surroundings54. Utilise existing buildings to 
house inverters wherever possible. 

 
6.4.1.3 Ground-mounted arrays can result in direct habitat loss, habitat changes and 
disturbance or displacement of species and this should be carefully considered. 
 
6.4.2 Small-scale solar energy – size thresholds  

6.4.2.1 When considering size thresholds, the following is relevant in this regard:  

 
53 Further guidance on this can be found within the Landscape Institutes’ Technical Guidance Note on Residential 
Visual Amenity Assessment (RVAA), 
54 The Malvern Hills National Landscape Guidance on Building Design and Guidance on the Selection and Use of Colour in 
Development provides further supporting guidance on this point. 

Page 40

https://www.landscapeinstitute.org/technical-resource/rvaa/
https://www.landscapeinstitute.org/technical-resource/rvaa/


Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

• EIA Regulations specify that proposals should be screened for an EIA if the 
development area exceeds 0.5 hectares55. 

• Permitted development rights cover solar PV or solar thermal equipment on, or 
within the curtilage of, a dwellinghouse or block of flats56.  

6.4.2.2 However, it should be noted that these thresholds do not apply within designated 
AONBs (i.e., permitted development rights do not apply in AONBs57 and solar energy 
proposals that are smaller than 0.5 hectares could potentially be screened for an EIA58).  

6.4.2.3 In many landscape sensitivity assessments (LSAs) for renewable energy, ‘small 
scale’ solar energy development are schemes covering an area of five hectares or less. 
Nevertheless, it is appreciated that given the small extent and far-reaching views from the 
Malvern Hills themselves, the Malvern Hills National Landscape, and its setting, is likely 
to have high landscape and visual sensitivity to all scales of solar energy development.  

6.4.2.4 Based on the above, the following thresholds should be applied for small-scale 
solar energy development when considering this position statement:  

• 0.5ha or less = micro-scale.  
• 0.5 ha - 5ha = small/field scale.  

6.4.2.5 The Malvern Hills National Landscape Team are increasingly receiving queries 
relating to micro- and small-scale solar PV arrays. There are several types of arrays:  

1. Small-/Field-scale solar arrays on greenfield land (undeveloped/agricultural land)  
2. Small-/Field-scale solar arrays on brownfield land (developed industrial/ 

commercial/contaminated land)  
3. Micro- and small-scale solar installations over car parks, alongside air strips, and 

other suitable external areas  
4. Micro- and small-scale solar installations on new or existing industrial/agricultural 

buildings and other large-scale roofs  

6.4.2.6 Site justification is vital, and identification of alternative sites should be considered. 
Ultimately proposed schemes will be judged on their own merits; however, array types 2, 
3 and 4 offer more significant opportunities for the mitigation of potential adverse impacts 
upon the Malvern Hills National Landscape and its setting.  

 
55 The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017. Schedule 2. Development type 3(a). 
56 The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015. Part 14. 
57 The regulations relating to permitted development rights (PDR) for renewable energy specify that these PDR do not apply in 
‘Article 2(3)’ land, which includes designated AONBs. 
58 The thresholds and criteria specified in Schedule 2 of the Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations do not apply in 
‘sensitive areas’, including designated AONBs. 

Page 41



Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

6.4.2.7 Proposals on, and within the curtilage of, residential properties not exceeding 0.5 
hectares in size would need to be considered on a case-by-case basis where they are 
not permitted development. However, they are, in principle, likely to be acceptable in the 
Malvern Hills National Landscape and its setting, if compliant with relevant regulations 
and the considerations outlined in this position statement. 

6.4.2.8 Proposals for small-scale solar energy schemes larger than 0.5ha but smaller 
than 5ha are less likely to be acceptable in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and its 
setting due to the potential visual and/or landscape harm they present. Depending on the 
nature and siting of the scheme, they also may be considered major development, and if 
so, they should be assessed as such. Schemes that would constitute major development 
(in the context of paragraph 183 of the NPPF) should only be permitted in exceptional 
circumstances and where it can be demonstrated that the development would be in the 
public interest, in line with national planning policy. However, in specific circumstances 
and with adequate mitigation of potential adverse impacts on the Malvern Hills National 
Landscape and its setting, a small-scale solar energy proposal may be acceptable.  

6.4.2.9 As such, any small-scale solar energy schemes should always be considered on 
a case-by-case basis against relevant planning policies and with regard to relevant 
considerations in Malvern Hills National Landscape Partnership published guidance and 
robust evidence provided of how any adverse impacts will be avoided or sufficiently 
mitigated. 

6.4.3 Micro- and Small-scale solar - relevant considerations  

6.4.3.1 This guidance primarily relates to such proposals being sensitively located59 and 
sited60. Location, siting, and design are also important considerations for schemes that 
relate to scheduled monuments, listed buildings, conservation areas and other heritage 
assets61.  

6.4.3.2 PV panels mounted on buildings are considered more suitable than those that are 
freestanding as they are likely to have fewer adverse effects, albeit there may be some 
effects visually that should be considered if located on buildings that can be viewed from 
above. In a few specific circumstances, ground mounted solar panels therefore may be 
more preferable, but this should be clearly justified. Ideally, PV panels can be used as a 
building material, integrated into the roof (or facades) of buildings e.g. using solar 
shingles, solar slates, solar glass laminates and other solar design solutions, and can be 

 
59 ‘Located,’ in this context, refers to the placement of the proposed development with regard to the landscape context, including 
the Malvern Hills National Landscape Partnership Position Statement on Landscape-led Development. 
60 ‘Sited,’ in this context, feres to the development’s placement in relation to its immediate context. 
61 ‘Relate to,’ in this context, means ‘on,’ ‘in the curtilage of’ and / or ‘in the setting of.’ 

Page 42



Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

integrated with traditional tiles/slates62, although it is acknowledged that this may not be 
viable for householder scale upgrades on existing buildings.  

6.4.3.3 Solar collectors or evacuated tubes can be incorporated into the existing roof in 
the same way. Ideally, these require an angle of 30-40 degrees, facing south.  

6.4.3.4 Consideration should be given to the effect of installations on the appearance of 
the building. It is a good idea to line panels up with existing windows and roof lights, 
ensuring the size of the panels are complementary to existing features on the building. 

6.4.3.5 Consideration should be given to the colour and design of the panels and their 
frames and mounts/supporting structures. For example, panels with a dull, matt finish with 
anti-glare options and non-reflective frames/grids are less conspicuous as are panels with 
dark surfaces which are likely to be acceptable on buildings with darker slate roofs or on 
new buildings in areas where black slate roofs are characteristic, to integrate into the 
landscape. 

6.4.3.6 Rooftop solar panels can blend well with contemporary, industrial, business park 
and agricultural buildings. Use of panels on such buildings, including by retrofitting should 
be supported, where considerations such as those listed in this position statement are 
followed.  

6.4.3.7 Small-scale freestanding solar arrays that are well screened in enclosed gardens 
or closely linked to existing buildings with no or minimal visual impact may be acceptable. 
There may be circumstances where ground mounted solar arrays to serve groups of 
properties, community buildings, such as village halls, agricultural properties or other 
businesses are acceptable, where these are clearly well screened within existing building 
complexes or by other existing landscape features such as hedgerows, walls or trees, 
and which do not detract from any architectural or historic/archaeological interest, or 
compromise protected species.  

6.4.3.8 Arrays need to be positioned such that any associated screening does not shade 
the panels. Where new screening is proposed, care needs to be taken to ensure 
screening does not adversely affect visual amenity and/or landscape character or 
heritage assets. Consideration will also need to be given to the potential impact of 
paraphernalia associated with the installation and operation of the solar panels. 

6.4.3.9 Retrofitted roof-mounted solar units on buildings can have a ‘modernising’ effect 
on their character and appearance, particularly when located on the principal elevation of 
a property. It is beneficial for panels to:  

• Match roof materials;  
 

62 The UK Government has estimated that there are currently 250,000 hectares (approx. 625,000 acres) of south-facing 
commercial roofs in the UK (Part 2 of the Government’s UK Solar Photo-Voltaic (PV) Strategy). 

Page 43



Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

• Lie/Be ‘flush’ with the roof and mounted at the same angle, minimising contrast;  
• Mounted on an elevation where they are less visible, in the case of retrofitted panels, 

or incorporated as a garden feature, especially when associated with, for instance, 
older buildings; and 

• Be at a suitable angle to maximize the capture of the sun’s energy. The impact on 
wildlife which may roost, nest or travel under the panels should be considered to 
ensure suitable measures are taken to protect them.  

6.4.3.10 Roof-top panels on buildings have the added benefit of providing generation at 
the point of use, reducing transmission and distribution losses, and associated 
infrastructure impacts. Well-designed solar technology should be added as a mandatory 
part of building regulations for new build houses and all business/industrial development. 
Local planning authorities should support rooftop PV panels generation through planning 
conditions to mandate it on new development and refurbishments. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
• In principle, the Malvern Hills National Landscape Partnership would be 

supportive of domestic and micro- (I.e. less than 0.5ha) solar schemes 
provided relevant considerations have been clearly addressed. They will still 
need to be considered on a case-by-case basis.  

• Small-scale solar energy schemes (I.e. between 0.5ha and 5ha) within the 
Malvern Hills National Landscape and its setting, have greater potential to 
adversely affect the Special Qualities of AONB designation and are unlikely to 
be supported. Such proposals must be carefully considered on a case-by-
case basis and will require robust evidence that relevant considerations have 
been clearly addressed. This includes having regard to visual effects, 
including the proximity to high ground and key vantage points within the 
Malvern Hills National Landscape, and consideration of effects upon 
landscape character. Where such schemes are considered ‘major 
development’ proposals, applicants should be required to demonstrate that 
exceptional circumstances apply and the scheme would be in the public 
interest, having regard to Paragraph 183 of the NPPF (December 2023). 

•  Building-mounted or roof-top panels on new and existing buildings should 
be at the top of the solar energy ‘hierarchy’ and would generally be considered 
more favourably over freestanding solar development proposals, subject to 
the relevant considerations listed in this position statement.    

• Local planning authorities should support rooftop PV generation through 
planning conditions on new development and refurbishment/retrofitting, 
subject to the relevant considerations in this position statement. 

Page 44



Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

• Solar technology should be introduced as a mandatory part of building 
regulations for new build development in local plan policies. 

 

6.4.4 Large-scale solar energy  

6.4.4.1 We consider ‘large-scale’ as over five hectares (5ha) although the Partnership 
acknowledges that, in the context of landscape sensitivity assessments, for example, a 
wider range of size thresholds may be used. Main features of large-scale ground-mounted 
solar PV installations include:  

• Panels are often dark in colour although may appear paler depending on light 
conditions and type of panel. Panel surrounds and electric cable coverings may 
also reflect light. The relative absorptive properties of a solar panel should be 
considered on a case-by-case basis’. 

• Panels are visible from behind or the side, influencing how they are perceived.  
• Panels are encased in an aluminium frame, supported by aluminium or steel 

stands mounted and secured either on pre-moulded concrete block ‘anchors,’ or 
foundations. Some developments contain panels that can be manually rotated 
and/or tilted to enable the arrays to track the sun. Technology does exist to allow 
for automatic tracking.  

• Panels are held at a fixed angle between 20-40 degrees from the horizontal, facing 
south to maximise absorption of energy from the sun.  

• Arrays are sited in rows with intervening gaps between them for access, and to 
ensure the individual panels are not in the shade of panels. The actual 
arrangement of the arrays varies scheme to scheme.  

• The height of the racks of solar panels varies depending on manufacturer and 
installer but tend to be between 2-4 metres off the ground. 

• The installations are usually accompanied by significant additional infrastructure 
including road access, on-site tracks, hard-standings, construction compounds, 
security fencing, CCTV, lighting, substations, battery storage, control buildings, 
control rooms, inverters, transformers, electrical cabling, / underground power 
cables, and SUDS / attenuation ponds.   

6.4.4.2 Commercial-scale solar energy schemes usually require an area of at least five 
hectares to be viable63. Community-led schemes may also require a substantial land area.  

6.4.4.3 An important consideration is landscape sensitivity. This is a measure that 
considers susceptibility to change and also value. It has benefit by being evidence based 
and adding rigour to assessing development proposals. 

 
63 Anecdotal evidence provided by consultants involved in commercial-scale solar energy proposals. 

Page 45



Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

6.4.4.4 The local planning authorities that overlap the Malvern Hills National Landscape 
should undertake a landscape sensitivity and capacity assessment (LSCA) for wind and 
solar energy, as part of their evidence base for development plans (i.e. Local Plans).  

6.4.4.5 Landscape and Visual Impact Assessments (LVIAs) or LVAs will help to identify 
the levels of landscape and visual effects on a case-by-case basis64. Cumulative effects 
also need to be considered. In terms of landscape value, given the designation as an 
AONB, the Malvern Hills National Landscape should be attributed the highest category 
possible in such assessment65. Agricultural land that is designated, for example for the 
protection of wildlife, should be avoided. LVIAs should contain a clear description of the 
sites agricultural classification and all other relevant designations. 

6.4.4.6 The Malvern Hills National Landscape has the Special Quality of ‘dramatic 
scenery and spectacular views arising from the juxtaposition of high and low ground.’ As 
a result, and for the reasons set out in this position statement, the Partnership is unlikely 
to support, in principle, solar energy schemes within the Malvern Hills National Landscape 
and its setting over 5 ha as it is unlikely that sufficient mitigation would be possible to 
avoid adverse effects to the landscape and visual baseline. Hence, supporting such a 
scheme would not be consistent with the statutory purpose of AONB designation.  

6.4.4.7 Schemes that would constitute major development (in the context of paragraph 
183 of the NPPF) should only be permitted in exceptional circumstances and where it can 
be demonstrated that the development would be in the public interest, in line with national 
planning policy.  

6.4.4.8 Further guidance and recommendations on landscape sensitivity assessments 
and how they might be applied to identify ‘suitable areas’ for renewable energy in local 
planning authority development plans is provided in Section 6.6. Further guidance on the 
issue of major development is provided in Section 4. 

6.4.4.9 Many considerations outlined in relation to small-scale solar energy schemes are 
applicable to large-scale schemes, including EIA thresholds. In addition to the impact of 
the solar panels themselves, consideration should be given to the impacts of any 
additional infrastructure that is required for the scheme, including road access, on-site 
tracks, hard-standings, construction compounds,  security fencing, CCTV, lighting 
substations, battery storage,  control buildings,  control rooms, inverters, transformers, 
electrical cabling,  underground power cables, and SUDS/attenuation ponds. Many of 
these require engineering works, especially where flat platforms are required on sloping 
ground. Consideration should be given to potential conflicts with other land uses, such as 

 
64 EIA development considers significance. 
65 It is also necessary to go beneath the blanket of the designation and identify other value factors. This should be carried out in 
accordance with the Landscape Institute’s Technical Guidance Note | 02/21 Assessing landscape value outside national 
designations, which is relevant for such studies within nationally-designated landscapes as well as within their settings. 

Page 46

https://www.landscapeinstitute.org/news/new-guidance-assessing-landscape-value-outside-national-designations/


Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

food production (particularly on best and most versatile land), nature recovery, 
woodland/wetland creation, and recreation/access. 

6.4.4.10 Another consideration is the proximity of the railway and road network, PROWs 
(public rights of way), and residential areas. The provision of any reflective material used 
on the panels should not interfere with the line of sight of train drivers and road users (for 
public safety reasons). In addition, potential for glare or reflection of light from the panels 
that may impact upon signalling should be considered66. Similarly, the effect of the siting 
of solar panels, particularly in terms of their reflectivity of both sunlight and moonlight, 
should be considered in relation to views to and from the Malvern Hills and the impacts 
that may have on such users, as well as views from PROWs and from residential 
properties.  

6.4.4.11 Large-scale solar PV installations occupy substantial areas of ground which may 
be highly visible, especially where sites are viewed from adjacent higher ground. Key 
landscape effects of large-scale solar PV developments are that they may:  

• Be highly visible in open landscapes, when looking out from high ground, and on 
the upper slopes of hillsides, especially where covering significant areas; 

• Lead to a perceived increase in human/industrialising influences on the landscape; 
• Result in land use change and the appearance of one or more fields, affecting land 

cover textures and patterns; 
• Introduce a regular edge (to the panels) that can be particularly conspicuous in 

more irregular landscapes (especially where the panels do not follow contours); 
• ‘Overtop’ hedgerows where panel heights rise to 3-4m, potentially reducing the 

visual prominence of field boundaries, a particular issue where several adjacent 
small fields are developed; 

• Change the character of enclosure with security fencing and screen planting 
(including hedges allowed to grow out) around solar PV developments; 

• Damage landscape elements and features during construction; 
• Result in a significant adverse change in the character of wild or natural 

landscapes which are valued for their high nature conservation value and qualities 
of remoteness; 

• Introduce ancillary buildings that can be uncharacteristic in the landscape; and 
• Result in glint and glare from the panels67. 

6.4.4.12 Vegetation will grow under some large-scale solar development, and may require 
management, particularly to avoid the site becoming overgrown with noxious weeds and 

 
66 Currently, there is no formal glint and glare assessment guidance exists, apart from at a very high level, by the Civil Aviation 
Authority. Informal guidance has been produced by industry consultants, but it is not clear whether this can be relied upon as an 
appropriate form of guidance. 
67 See footnote above. 

Page 47



Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

assist with the eventual restoration of the site, normally to agriculture.  Few of the 
management techniques usually recommended, such as mowing, strimming, spraying or 
mulching, are regarded as sustainable, particularly on sites up to 15ha68. Grazing is a 
preferred opportunity, where practicable, although has its own complications, with little 
evidence of its viability that has not been developer led, and anecdotal evidence to the 
contrary69.  .  

6.4.4.13 The Feed in Tariff for solar PV applies for a period of 25 years therefore 
developments should normally be regarded as temporary, hence the need for 
‘reversibility’, and the ability for all structures to be removed and the land returned to its 
original use. A restoration strategy70 should demonstrate how the site will be returned to 
a state that is in keeping with local character and in good condition. In order to facilitate 
grazing, if grazing is planned, within the ground-mounted solar installation it is advised 
that solar panels are positioned at least 700mm above ground level and all cabling etc is 
suitably protected. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
• In relation to large-scale solar energy, the Malvern Hills National Landscape 

Partnership would not be supportive of solar energy schemes within the 
Malvern Hills National Landscape or its setting larger than five hectares in 
size. 

• Applicants for large-scale solar energy schemes above 5ha should be 
required to robustly demonstrate that the scheme will protect, conserve and 
enhance the natural beauty of the Malvern Hills National Landscape and/or its 
setting, and will conserve and enhance the historic environment. In addition 
to the impact of the panels themselves, consideration should also be given to 
the impacts of any additional infrastructure that is required for the scheme, 
particularly during construction, operation, maintenance, and 
decommissioning. 

• Poorer grades of agricultural land that are designated, for example for the 
protection of wildlife, should be avoided. 

 
68 If the land is arable, it will tend to be of high fertility soil and therefore would be unable to establish wildflower, and 
furthermore, at the end of the development life, the land is normally proposed to restore to the previous level of fertility, and 
therefore a proposal should explain how this will be achieved. 
69 For example, the quality of the grass as fodder can decline over time under solar panels and additional feed or supplements 
may therefore be required. Cattle, horses, pigs, and goats are likely to be too ‘physical’ with the solar arrays, but sheep, chickens 
or geese could be acceptable, although the latter would be prey to foxes. 
70 Although it is argued that large scale ground-mounted solar developments are temporary and reversible, there is no 
precedent to by which to judge this as no UK solar sites have yet been subject to restoration and agricultural reversion. In 
practice, solar developments are, or can become, more permanent features. Many are planned to operate for 40 years, and/or 
they extend their operating licence, and the practicality of the effective implementation of a restoration strategy after such an 
extended period of time is unknown. 

Page 48



Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

• For ‘major development’ proposals, applicants should be required to 
demonstrate that exceptional circumstances apply, and the scheme would be 
in the public interest, having regard to paragraph 183 of the NPPF (December 
2023). 

 

6.5 Wind Energy  

6.5.1.1 Wind turbines use the wind’s lift forces to rotate aerodynamic blades that turn a 
rotor creating a mechanical force that generates electricity. The amount of energy derived 
from a turbine depends on wind speed and the swept area of the blade.  

6.5.1.2 Wind turbines can be deployed singly, small clusters, (2–5 turbines) or larger 
groups as wind farms.  

6.5.1.3 Wind turbines consist of the tower; a hub; blades; a nacelle (which contains the 
generator and gear boxes); and a transformer that can be housed either inside the nacelle 
or at the base of the tower. Additional infrastructure is still required such as access and it 
must be noted that one must ensure that large scheme elements can be delivered to site 
without damage to / loss of landscape elements / features. 

6.5.1.4 Wind energy developments are unique in that they introduce a source of 
movement into the landscape. In current designs, the turbine blades turn around a 
horizontal axis but can turn around a vertical axis. Two-bladed turbines are available. 

6.5.2 Small-scale wind energy – size thresholds  

6.5.2.1 The following height thresholds provide a useful starting point:  

• EIA Regulations specify that proposals should be screened for an EIA if the hub 
height of any turbine (or height of any other structure that forms part of the scheme) 
exceeds 15 metres and/or the development area exceeds 0.5 hectares71.  

• Permitted development rights cover72:  
o Wind turbines on (i.e., attached to) detached houses, which do not exceed 

15 metres in height (or protrude more than 3m above the highest part of the 
roof, excluding the chimney); and 

o Stand-alone wind turbines within the curtilage of houses or blocks of flats 
that do not exceed 11.1 metres.  

 
71 The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017. Schedule 2 (link). Development type 
3(i) and / or 3(a). The EIA threshold also relates to wind energy development of any height (including smaller than 15m hub 
height) where there are more than two turbines. 
72 The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015. Part 14 

Page 49



Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

6.5.2.2 Such thresholds do not apply within designated AONBs (i.e., these permitted 
development rights do not apply in AONBs73 and turbines in AONBs that are smaller than 
15 metres in height could potentially be screened for an EIA74). Having regard to the 
’Special Quality’ of ’dramatic scenery and spectacular views arising from the juxtaposition 
of high and low ground ‘, effectively means that only stand-alone wind turbines within the 
curtilage of farm or office buildings, houses or blocks of flats may be acceptable in the 
Malvern Hills National Landscape and its setting. However, they would also need to 
comply with the relevant regulations and accord with guidance, primarily relating to 
proposals being sensitively located75 and sited76. 

6.5.2.3 It is noted that the EIA threshold of 15 metres relates to the hub-height of the 
turbine. The blade tip height can be several metres higher. It is also worth noting that wind 
turbines with a blade tip height smaller than 25 metres are often classed as ‘small’ in 
landscape sensitivity assessments.  

6.5.2.4 Based on the above, and for the purposes of this Position Statement, small-scale 
is viewed as wind turbines that are 25 metres or less, in height, to the blade tip. Wind 
turbines of this scale are most likely to be used for individual properties or small groups 
of properties, rather than commercial schemes. 

6.5.3 Small-scale wind energy – location 

6.5.3.1 With regards to ‘location,’ consideration should be given to landscape sensitivity 
and capacity. This means having regard to the potential sensitivity and capacity of the 
landscape character type/area where the development is proposed and to the type of 
energy generation proposed. This is addressed in more detail in relation to the AONB 
designation considerations in (Section 4 of this position statement and in the identification 
of ‘suitable areas’ in Section 6.6).  

6.5.4 Small-scale wind energy – siting and design  

6.5.4.1 The size of a wind turbine should relate to the scale of its surroundings. Turbines 
should not dominate existing buildings or landscape features but be in proportion.  

6.5.4.2 The relationship between a turbine and the slope of the landform is a key 
consideration of wind energy development, particularly regarding the degree of landscape 
and/or visual impact. Ideally, turbines should be located below the skyline and towards 

 
73 The regulations relating to permitted development rights (PDR) for renewable energy specify that these PDR do not apply in 
‘Article 2(3)’ land, which includes designated AONBs. 
74 The thresholds and criteria specified in Schedule 2 of the Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations do not apply in 
‘sensitive areas’, including designated AONBs. 
75 ‘Located,’ in this context, refers to the placement of the proposed wind development with regard to the landscape context. 
76 ‘Sited,’ in this context, refers to the development’s placement in relation to its immediate context. 

Page 50



Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

lower slopes. The top of a steeply inclined slope is also not appropriate because the steep 
incline creates wind turbulence, reducing operational efficiency.  

6.5.4.3 Choosing appropriate colours for the turbines (and associated infrastructure) may 
help reduce visual impact e.g. darker colours may be appropriate when the turbine is 
likely to be viewed against woodland or against a backdrop that is below the skyline. 

6.5.4.4 Consideration should also be given to: 

• Impacts on visual receptors: Particularly in relation to impacts on views from 
residential and publicly accessible locations. Visual receptors on the Malvern Hills, on 
named / promoted walking, cycling or horse-riding routes and at important viewpoints 
(for example, those marked on OS maps, or identified in NDPs, are particularly 
sensitive in this regard. Where there are several potential locations for the wind 
turbine(s), priority should be given to the least prominent location.  

• Ecology: Both large- and small-scale turbines have the potential to adversely effect  
bird species and habitats. During construction, care should be taken to avoid removal 
or fragmentation of existing vegetation. Consideration should be given to potential 
impact on bats.  

• Impacts on historic environment and cultural heritage assets/designations and their 
settings: Particularly scheduled monuments, listed buildings, conservation areas, and 
registered/unregistered historic parks and gardens. 

• Noise and shadow flicker: Wind turbines generate two types of noise – mechanical 
noise, created by its gearbox, and aerodynamic noise, produced by its moving blades. 
Shadow flicker occurs when the sun passes behind a turbine’s rotating blades and 
casts a shadow that appears to rapidly flicker on and off. Proximity to neighbouring 
properties is particularly important in this regard.  

• Cumulative impacts: This includes other wind developments, overhead powerlines, 
and telecommunications masts and other vertical structures. 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
• In relation to small-scale wind energy, only stand-alone wind turbines within 

the curtilage of farm or office buildings, houses or blocks of flats are, in 
principle, likely to be acceptable in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its setting, provided that relevant considerations have been clearly 
addressed.  

• Each proposal should be assessed on a case-by-case basis and should 
protect, conserve and enhance the natural beauty of the Malvern Hills National 
Landscape and its setting. 

 

Page 51



Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

6.5.5 Large-scale wind energy  

6.5.5.1 ‘Large-scale’ means turbines larger than 25 metres in height, to the tip of the 
turbine (taking account of the definition of ‘small scale’, provided above). In the context of 
landscape sensitivity assessments, a wider range of size thresholds is likely.  

6.5.5.2 As outlined in relation to small-scale wind energy above, the issue of visual 
sensitivity is also an important consideration.  

6.5.5.3 Landscape and Visual Impact Assessments (LVIAs) and Landscape and Visual 
Appraisals (LVAs) will help to identify the significance of landscape and visual effects on 
a case-by-case basis.  

6.5.5.4 The Malvern Hills National Landscape has the Special Quality of ’dramatic 
scenery and spectacular views arising from the juxtaposition of high and low ground ‘. As 
a result, the Partnership is unlikely to support, in principle, large scale wind energy 
schemes within the Malvern Hills National Landscape, and/or its setting, as it is unlikely 
that sufficient mitigation would be possible to avoid adverse change to the landscape and 
visual baseline, and hence supporting such a scheme would not be consistent with the 
statutory purpose of AONB designation. 

6.5.5.5 Wind energy schemes that would constitute major development (in the context of 
paragraph 183 of the NPPF) can only be permitted in exceptional circumstances and 
where it can be demonstrated that the development would be in the public interest, in line 
with national planning policy.  

6.5.5.6 Further guidance on landscape sensitivity assessments and how they might be 
applied to identify ‘suitable areas’ for renewable energy in local planning authority 
development plans is provided in Section 6.6. Further guidance on the issue of major 
development is provided in Section 4 of this position statement.  

6.5.5.7 Many of the considerations outlined in relation to small-scale wind energy 
schemes are also applicable to large-scale schemes, including EIA thresholds. In addition 
to the impact of the wind turbines themselves, consideration should be given to the 
impacts of any additional infrastructure that is required for the scheme, such as road 
access, on-site tracks, turbine foundations, hard standings, anemometer masts, 
construction compounds, electrical cabling, battery storage, sub-stations, and control 
buildings. Other relevant considerations are addressed in Section 4.  

6.5.5.8 Consideration should be given for the effect of wind development upon landscape 
designations, geological and nature conservation designations, and historic assets near 
the development, and the wider landscape context. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Page 52



Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

 
• In relation to large-scale wind energy, the Malvern Hills National Landscape 

Partnership would not be supportive of large-scale wind energy schemes 
within the Malvern Hills National Landscape and/or its setting.  

• Applicants for large-scale wind energy schemes should be required to 
robustly demonstrate that the scheme could be accommodated without 
adversely affecting the landscape and/or scenic beauty of the AONB 
designation and/or its setting. 

• For major development proposals, applicants should be required to 
demonstrate that exceptional circumstances apply and that the scheme would 
be in the public interest, as per Paragraph 183 of the NPPF (December 2023). 

 

6.6 Wind & Solar Energy – Identification of ‘Suitable Areas’  

6.6.1 Paragraph 160 of the NPPF states that to help increase the use and supply of 
renewable and low carbon energy and heat, plans should ‘consider identifying suitable 
areas for renewable and low carbon energy sources, and supporting infrastructure, where 
this would help secure their development’. In practice, identification of ’suitable areas’ for 
renewable energy development in development plans primarily focuses on both wind and 
solar energy. 

6.6.2 There is a strong onus on identifying ‘suitable areas’ for wind energy in LPA 
development plans, with the NPPF stating that ‘a proposed wind energy development 
involving one or more turbines should not be considered acceptable unless it is in an area 
identified as being suitable for wind energy development in the development plan…’77. If 
LPAs do not identify suitable areas for wind energy in their development plans, then they 
are effectively ruling out wind energy development in their LPA areas.  

6.6.3 The Malvern Hills National Landscape Partnership recommends that the 
identification of ‘suitable areas’ should be based on a combination of: 

• Landscape sensitivity and capacity assessments; 
• Constraints mapping; and 
• Technical consideration including wind speed and grid connectivity. 

6.6.4 As stated in the PPG for Renewable and Low Carbon Energy, ‘there are no hard 
and fast rules about how suitable areas for renewable energy should be identified, but in 
considering locations, local planning authorities will need to ensure they take into 
account‘… critically, the potential impacts on the local environment, including from 

 
77 National Planning Policy Framework. Footnote 58 (December 2023). 

Page 53



Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

cumulative impacts.’ The PPG goes on to state, in relation to the identification of suitable 
areas, that:  

‘In considering impacts, assessments can use tools to identify where impacts are likely to 
be acceptable. For example, landscape character areas could form the basis for 
considering which technologies at which scale may be appropriate in different types of 
location.’  

6.6.5 It is important to note that the PPG says ‘could’ rather than ‘should,’ in this regard. 
However, in the context of nationally designated protected landscapes, such as 
designated AONBs, and their settings, we consider that it is essential that the 
identification of suitable areas should be underpinned by a landscape sensitivity 
assessment. Guidance on this topic has been published by Natural England. 

6.6.6 When ‘suitable areas’ are being identified, regard should be given to the purpose 
of conserving and enhancing the natural beauty of the Malvern Hills National Landscape. 
Identification of ‘suitable areas’ should be underpinned by a landscape sensitivity and 
capacity assessment and by consideration of the constraints that relate to the natural 
beauty of AONB designation, including nature conservation and historic environment 
designations (in addition to infrastructure constraints and other technical considerations).  

6.6.6.1 Wind and solar energy schemes should be steered towards areas of lower 
landscape sensitivity and away from key constraints. The Government’s PPG on 
Renewable and Low Carbon Energy states, in the context of identifying ‘suitable areas,’ 
that ‘there is a methodology78 available from the Department of Energy and Climate 
Change’s website on assessing the capacity for renewable energy development’79. 

6.6.6.2 The methodology sets out a five-step process for addressing AONB designation:  

• Step 1: Identify the purposes of the landscape area (reasons for designation)  
• Step 2: Identify which technologies might affect these purposes/ integrity of the 

designation  
• Step 3: Identify how each technology might affect the purposes/ integrity  
• Step 4: Identify the type and level of renewable and low carbon infrastructure that 

could be accommodated without compromising the purposes/ integrity of the 
designations  

• Step 5: Provide guidance on how to integrate renewable/ low carbon energy without 
compromising the purposes/integrity  

 
78 LUC and SQW Energy (2010) Renewable and Low-carbon Energy Capacity Methodology. Methodology for the English Regions. 
Commissioned by the Department of Energy and Climate Change (DECC) and the Department of Communities and Local 
Government (CLG). 
79 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/renewable-and-low-carbon-energy. Paragraph 005. 

Page 54



Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

6.6.6.3 The methodology identifies whether ‘constraints,’ such as infrastructure and 
nature conservation and heritage conservation designations, should be excluded from 
further consideration (i.e., not considered suitable for renewable energy development) 
and whether there should be a ‘buffer zone’ around these features. The consideration of 
relevant constraints and buffer zones is reflected in the evidence-base of many current 
development plan consultations. 

6.6.7 Areas that are identified as having ‘high’ landscape sensitivity to the type and scale 
of renewable energy being proposed should be excluded from the suitable area mapping.  

6.6.7.1 It is recognised that in having regard to the ’Special Quality’ of ’dramatic scenery 
and spectacular views arising from the juxtaposition of high and low ground’ means that 
landscape and visual sensitivity is high across much of the Malvern Hills National 
Landscape and its setting. Where landscape sensitivity is evaluated or classed as ‘High’ 
or ‘Very High’ (depending on the point scale used), key characteristics and qualities of 
the landscape will be more vulnerable to change from the proposed scale of wind and 
solar energy development. Such development is more likely to result in a significant 
(adverse) change in landscape character. In designated AONBs, such development is 
likely to have a significant adverse effect on the statutory purpose of AONB designation, 
which is to conserve and enhance natural beauty. The same is true for such development 
in the setting of designated AONBs in cases where the impact on views from and/or to 
the designated landscape is an important consideration in landscape sensitivity ranking80. 

6.6.7.2 In order for a landscape sensitivity assessment to have a meaningful role in the 
identification of suitable areas for wind and solar energy we recommend that areas within 
designated AONBs that have higher sensitivity to particular scales of wind or solar energy 
development should not be included within ‘suitable area’ maps in local authority 
development plans. The same principle should also apply to higher sensitivity areas in 
the setting of a designated AONB, where the impact on views from and / or to the 
designated AONB is an important consideration in the landscape sensitivity ranking. 

6.6.8 Consideration will also need to be given to types and scales of renewable energy 
that are identified as being of higher landscape sensitivity. 

 
80 Case law (see also footnote 21) has clarified that the requirements of what is now paragraph 182 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) should apply to the impact of development outside a designated AONB on views from the designated 
AONB. In other words, great weight should be given to the impact of such development on these views. Further guidance on this 
can be found in the Malvern Hills National Landscape Position Statement on Development and Land Use Change in the Setting of 
the Malvern Hills National Landscape. Although the same principle, clarified in the case law example, does not apply to the impact 
of such development on views towards a designated AONB, these views may still contribute to the ‘special qualities’ of the 
designated AONB. This is especially the case for the Malvern Hills, the views towards which are considered one of the ‘special 
qualities’ of the Malvern Hills National Landscape. 

Page 55



Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

6.6.8.1 Development is likely to be ‘major development’ in the context of paragraph 183 
of the NPPF, for which there is, in effect, presumption against granting planning 
permission, other than in exceptional circumstances.  

6.6.8.2 Key characteristics and qualities of the landscape are also vulnerable to change 
from wind and solar energy development when the landscape sensitivity is moderate. 
However, there may be some limited opportunity to accommodate wind turbines/ solar 
panels in such areas without significantly changing landscape character. Ideally, the 
landscape sensitivity assessment would specify the circumstances, or locations, where 
this might be the case. Given the fact that there may be opportunity (albeit limited) to 
accommodate such development without significantly changing landscape character, it 
might not be appropriate to automatically exclude such areas from ‘suitable area’ maps 
in local authority development plans.  

6.6.8.3 However, where the scale of wind or solar energy development within a 
designated AONB (or its setting) is such that the landscape sensitivity would be moderate, 
such development is still likely to have a significant adverse impact on the natural beauty 
of the AONB designation. Such development is likely to constitute ‘major development,’ 
in the context of paragraph 183 and footnote 64 of the NPPF81. 

6.6.9 Renewable energy proposals within a ‘suitable area’ will need to be assessed on 
a case-by-case basis against relevant policy considerations, factoring in relevant AONB 
designation considerations.  

6.6.10 Renewable energy LSAs that are commissioned by local authorities are normally 
based on a local authority’s own Landscape Character Assessment. However, in fulfilling 
the statutory duty to have regard to the purpose of AONB designation, they should have 
regard to relevant documents published by the Partnership, including:  

• Landscape Character Assessments;  
• AONB Management Plans, with regards to policies and ‘special qualities; 
• Position Statements; and 
• Other guidance relating to landscape character and landscape sensitivity e.g. 

Natural England’s National Character Area profiles. 
 
6.6.11 In the case of wind energy, they will also need to demonstrate that they have local 
community support. Where multiple renewable energy developments would be inter-
visible, cumulative impacts are also be a key consideration. 

RECOMMENDATION 
 

81 Footnote 64 of the NPPF specifies that ‘for the purposes of paragraphs 182 and 183 [of the NPPF], whether a proposal is ‘major 
development’ is a matter for the decision maker, taking into account its nature, scale and setting, and whether it could have a 
significant adverse impact on the purpose for which the area has been designated or defined’. 

Page 56



Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

 
• The Malvern Hills National Landscape Partnership supports the identification 

of suitable areas for wind and solar energy in local planning authority 
development plans.  

• Identification of ‘suitable areas’ should be underpinned by a landscape 
sensitivity and capacity assessment and by consideration of relevant 
constraints and technical considerations.  

• Suitable area maps should exclude areas of high/very high landscape 
sensitivity (and least within the designated AONB and its setting) and where 
there are key constraints.  

• Renewable energy schemes should be targeted towards areas of relatively 
low landscape sensitivity (preferably low/very low landscape sensitivity) 
within the LPA area. Renewable energy landscape sensitivity and capacity 
assessments, commissioned by local authorities, should have regard to 
relevant guidance published by the Malvern Hills National Landscape 
Partnership. 

• In relation to large-scale solar energy and wind energy, within the highly 
sensitive context of the designated AONB and its setting, a Landscape and 
Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) or Landscape and Visual Appraisal (LVA) 
should be carried out from pre-application stage and be submitted alongside 
a planning application. It should be produced to a high standard, follow best 
practice guidance (Guidelines for Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 
3rd Edition, 2013), and demonstrate the proposal does not compromise the 
AONB designation and its primary purposes. The appraisal should identify the 
Zone of Visual Influence (ZVI) or Zone of Theoretical Visibility (ZTV) and 
assess the development’s impact upon key viewpoints both within and 
towards the designated AONB, and also its setting. 

 

6.7 Energy Storage  

6.7.1 Renewable energy is intermittent in nature. It is important to provide energy 
storage systems that can be charged during periods of excess renewable energy 
generation and discharged at times of increased demand. Energy storage can be used 
to store electricity bought from the grid at cheaper times of the day, with dynamic energy 
tariffs that vary in price throughout the day.  

6.7.2 Energy storage systems include  

• Pumped hydro involves pumping water uphill at times of low demand, storing it in 
a reservoir and, in high demand periods, releasing it through turbines to create 
electricity.  

Page 57



Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

• Thermal energy storage involves storing excess energy to be used later for 
heating, cooling, or power generation; thermal energy can be stored in liquids, 
such as water, or solids, such as sand or rocks. Chemical reactions or changes in 
materials can also be used to store and release thermal energy.  

• Mechanical energy storage involves harnessing motion or gravity to store 
electricity. For example, a flywheel is a rotating mechanical device that is used to 
store rotational energy that can be called up instantaneously.  

• Batteries involve converting stored chemical energy into electrical energy. 
Advances in technology and falling prices mean grid-scale battery facilities that 
can store increasingly large amounts of energy are becoming common.  

6.7.3 For small-scale forms of renewable energy, including householder energy 
generation, that are advocated in this position statement, the most common form of 
energy storage is likely to be battery storage. In this context, battery storage solutions 
could be advantageous although battery size, and therefore consideration of its potential 
impact, will depend on energy usage and the size of the technologies installed. Some, 
but not all, battery storage systems can be installed outdoors.  

6.7.4 Where planning permission is required, relevant considerations include:  

• Location and design of the structure that the batteries are to be stored in (including 
the potential use of existing buildings, such as barns), or garages for domestic 
installation; 

• Fencing, substation, and other structures/infrastructure associated with the 
storage system; 

• Access and maintenance arrangements; 
• Noise impacts; and 
• Sustainability and environmental impact of materials used (e.g. lithium). 
• Risk of fire/explosion; 
• Potential impacts on heritage assets and the historic environment. 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
In relation to energy storage, in principle, the Malvern Hills National Landscape 
Partnership would be supportive of energy storage schemes that provide 
effective storage of renewable energy that is generated in the Malvern Hills 
National Landscape and its setting, providing relevant considerations have been 
adequately addressed. 

 

7.0 COMMUNITY-LED RENEWABLE ENERGY SCHEMES  

Page 58



Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

7.1 Account should be taken of the economic and social needs of local communities. 
An important component of this is how energy and heating requirements of these 
communities are met.  

7.2 National planning policy states that ‘local planning authorities should support 
community-led initiatives for renewable and low carbon energy’82, although they will still 
be required to go through the same processes as non-community led schemes. In the 
case of wind energy, national planning policy also states that a proposed wind energy 
development involving one or more turbines should not be considered acceptable unless, 
inter alia, the83 

7.3 As such, the extent to which a proposed renewable energy scheme: (i) explicitly 
helps to meet the energy needs of the individual local community; and/or (ii) is community-
led, is an important consideration. Care should be taken that community-led schemes are 
genuine and not developer-driven. More appropriate schemes are those that may be part 
of Neighbourhood Plans (NDPs) or initiatives such as the Community Visioning projects 
being piloted by CPRE84. 

7.4 Proposals for community-led renewable energy should be supported by evidence 
of the current carbon footprint/energy use of the community, and the impact that the 
renewable energy proposal will have on reducing this.  

7.5 Renewable energy schemes can support rural diversification and educational 
opportunities, and community-owned renewable energy projects can provide incentives 
and ownership, as well as promoting self-sufficiency. 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
• In relation to community-led renewable energy schemes, in principle, the 

Malvern Hills National Landscape Partnership would support community-led 
schemes more favourably, provided that considerations have been clearly 
addressed, than those which are not community-led. 

 

 
82 Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government (2023) National Planning Policy Framework - Paragraph 161. 
83 Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government (2023) National Planning Policy Framework - Footnote 58. The 
revisions to the NPPF in 2023 changed the requirement for community ‘backing’ to community ‘support’. ‘Support’ is, arguably, 
a (slightly) lower threshold than ‘backing.’ However, community backing, or support is likely to remain a requirement for wind 
energy proposals to be approved. 
84https://www.cpre.org.uk/what-we-care-about/climate-change-and-energy/renewable-energy/community-energy-visioning-
showcasing-renewables-done-well/ 

Page 59



Position Statement 4 - Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and 
its Setting - Malvern Hills National Landscape                               V4 April 2024 JAC 
 

• Renewable energy schemes should demonstrate economic, social and 
environmental benefits to the local community85. 

 

V1 – DRAFT produced for Malvern Hills AONB Joint Advisory Committee (JAC) meeting of 10 November 
2023 to endorse as a consultation draft – October 2023 (JB/SH/PE) 

V2 – DRAFT produced for consultation incorporating ‘National Landscape’ re-brand following 
endorsement of draft for consultation by Malvern Hills AONB JAC meeting of 10 November 2023 – 
December 2023 (JB/PE) 

V3 – DRAFT Tracked Changes incorporating updated National Planning Policy Framework (20 December 
2023), Levelling Up and Regeneration Act (2023) and consultation responses to consultation DRAFT – April 
2024 (JB/SH) 

V4 – Accept Tracked Changes to be produced for Malvern Hills AONB Joint Advisory Committee (JAC) 
Meeting of 26 April 2024 for endorsement – April 2024 (JB/SH) 

 
85 Other benefits can be employment, wellbeing/economic/energy security, as well as environmental (pollutants, carbon 
emissions, biodiversity/habitat). For example, heat pumps and roof solar would reduce domestic running costs in social housing, 
benefiting residents; and remove the need for oil deliveries (less heavy transport, less risk of oil spillage, less CO2 emissions). 

Page 60



  

 
Malvern Hills National Landscape Joint Advisory Committee – 26 April 2024 
 

 
MALVERN HILLS NATIONAL LANDSCAPE JOINT 
ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
 
26 APRIL 2024 
 
NATIONAL LANDSCAPE BUDGET AND WORK 
PROGRAMME 2024/25 

 
 

Recommendation 
 
1. The Committee is recommended to: 
 

a) Note the budget for 2024/25; and 
b) Comment on the overall direction and work priorities for the year 
 ahead. 

 
Summary 
 

2. A summary of the draft ‘core’1 budget for the year is provided in Appendix 1. 
Budget figures from the previous year are provided in brackets for comparison.  
 

Core budget  
 

3. The total core budget (not including voluntary contributions from Parish Councils) 
for 2024/25 is expected to be £217,620 (£215,594), this is slightly increased from 
2023/24 reflecting some small increases in grant from local authorities.  

 
4. Central government (Defra) is expected to provide a total of £173,490 
(£173,490). Local authorities in the area are expected to provide £44,130 (£42,104) 
of match funding to core costs in the following proportions: 
 
Herefordshire Council - £16,334 (£16,334) 
Worcestershire County Council - £14,594 (£13,268) 
Malvern Hills District Council - £11,550 (£11,000) 
Forest of Dean District Council - £959 (£959) 
Gloucestershire County Council - £693 (£630) 
   
  

 
1 The core budget covers salary, accommodation and partnership running costs together with a small 
amount of disposable income to cover any consultant fees, community grants etc  

Page 61

AGENDA ITEM 7



 
Malvern Hills National Landscape Joint Advisory Committee – 26 April 2024 
 

Voluntary contributions 
 

6. At its meeting on 26/04/13, JAC members agreed that there was merit in inviting 
Parish and Town Councils to make voluntary contributions to the work of the 
National Landscape Partnership.  An initial request was made to a small number of 
Councils and, following some success, additional Councils were contacted. Appendix 
2 summarises contributions received since 2017/18. Whilst some individual 
contributions may be small they can add up to very decent totals which are useful 
when added to the overall budget for delivering the Partnership's work programme. 
Financial contributions can be seen as a tangible expression of how local councils 
value the work of the National Landscape Partnership.   
 

Staff 
 

7. A part time Planning Officer commenced work on 1 February 2023. David 
Armitage and Karen Humphries share the post of Partnership Assistant Manager 
working for a combined 6 days a week. The Partnership Support Officer post has 
been vacant since 2020 but help with financial transactions etc is provided by the 
Worcestershire County Council Greenspace team. A Farming in Protected 
Landscapes Officer (Sash Warden) delivers the FiPL programme – see point 9.    
 

Work priorities  
 

8. The Unit's work programme for 2024/25 will be centred around the 
implementation of the AONB Management Plan but is also expected to be driven, 
significantly, by more recent drivers and initiatives. Key priorities for the year include: 
 

• Reviewing the AONB Management Plan. 
• Exploring the development of a form of Climate Change Adaptation Plan, for  

incorporation within the next management plan.  
• Delivering the final year of Defra’s Farming in Protected Landscapes Programme, 

including the Historic Building Restoration Grant. 
• Delivering a range of Access for All improvements, utilising funding from Defra. 
• Advice and support to landowners via the landowners’ group, the Pasture4Life 

programme and one-one provision.  
• Work to increase participation amongst different audiences, including making use 

of new funding to support youth engagement through day and residential 
programmes. 

• More work on helping people to make an emotional connection with the NL, 
including exploring a National Lottery funded project for the area and participating 
in the national ‘Nature Calling’ project.  

• Participation in the South Worcestershire Development Plan review Examination 
in Public and the Herefordshire Local Plan review. 

• Training to Local Planning Authority Officers and Committees.  
• More work on helping partners to meet carbon zero targets.  
 
 
 
 

Page 62



 
Malvern Hills National Landscape Joint Advisory Committee – 26 April 2024 
 

Additional/Project funding 
 

9. There are 3 additional pots of funding that Defra is expected to provide this year, 
as follows: 
 
Project/programme  Amount Comments  
FiPL  £361,213 Fourth and final year. Includes the 

FiPL Officer costs.   
Access for All £54,738 To improve access to the countryside 
Capital grant  £77,101  

 
 
 
County Council Contact Points 
County Council: 01905 763763 
 
Specific Contact Points for this report 
Paul Esrich, Malvern Hills NL Partnership Manager 
Tel: 01905 845057 
Email: PEsrich@worcestershire.gov.uk 
  

Page 63

mailto:PEsrich@worcestershire.gov.uk


 
Malvern Hills National Landscape Joint Advisory Committee – 26 April 2024 
 

 
Appendix 1 –Indicative budget for Malvern Hills AONB Partnership in 2024/25  
 

Element  
2024/25 2023/24 2022/23 2021/22 2020/21 2019/20 2018/19 2017/18 

Staff (costs inc. 
salary, NI, super, 
training, travel, NI, 
backfunding 
pensions etc) 

 

        

AONB Manager £63,000 £65,495 £63,495 £58,941 £58,941 £57,399 £52,160 £52,410 
AONB Assistant 
Manager  

£56,000 £58,105 £64,225 £54,000 £44,518 £43,500 £39,510 £39,600 

AONB Support 
Officer/Team Support 
(WCC) 

£5,000 £5,000 £5,229 £0 £18,949 £18,202 £15,650 £15,770 

AONB Planning Officer £28,500 £25,000 £4,537      
Strategy 
Officer/Planning Advice 

   £8,000 £8,000 £8,000 £8,000 £7,000 

Landowner support  £10,000  £3,965      
 

Sub total 
£162,500 153,600  £141,452  

£121,941 
 
£130,408 

 
£127,101 

 
£115,320 

 
£114,780 

         

Accommodation/ 
office equipment 

£10,000 £10,000 £10,851 £9,072 £9,072 £9,072 £9,072 £8,742 

         
Partnership budget 
for PR, events  etc.  

        

         

NAAONB membership  £2,900 £2,700 £2,789 £3,000 £3,000 £2,575 £2,575 £2,400 
Annual review £400 £400 £340 £400 £400 £358 £400 £400 
Small grants scheme 
for landscape and 
biodiversity 
improvements 

£5,000 £5,000 £8,790 £10,000 £10,000 £4,000 £3,000 £3,600 

Landscape scale 
project development 

£2,583 £3,000 £2,840 £4,580 £4,580 £4,580 £3,000 £3,500 

External advice £7,000 £5,327 £15,722 £7,967 £3,500 £3,500 £1,500  
State of AONB report  £10,000     £5,000  
Management Plan 
review  

£8,000      £9,000  

Large projects  £5,000 £7,304 £8,000 £10,000 £5,000 £5,000 £6.980 
Communications £2,000 £2,000 £9,632 £7,000 £5,000 £3,000 £2,000 £2,000 
 
Sub total 

£27,883 £33,427 £47.417  
£40,947 

 
£32,480 

 
£23,013 

 
£31,475 

 
£24,880 

         
Partnership running 
costs (Council 
support, IT, 
personnel, finance 
etc.) 

£9,237 £9,237 £9,327 £9,237 £9,237 £9,237 £9,237 £9,237 

Page 64



 
Malvern Hills National Landscape Joint Advisory Committee – 26 April 2024 
 

         
Community Projects 
(prev Sustainable 
Development Fund) 

£8,000 £9,300 £10,869 £12,190 £12,190 £22,875 £22,872 £25,991 

         
Total Budget 
 

£217,620 £215,594
2 

£219,826 £193,387 £193,38
7 

£191,29
8 

£187,97
6 

£183,87
5 

 
 
Appendix 2 – Voluntary contributions from Parish/Town Councils  
 
Organisation Contribution 

 
 2023/2

4 
2022/2
3 

2020/2
1 

2019/
20 

2018/
19 

Colwall PC £1,500 £2,500 £1,500 £1,50
0 

£750 

Cradley PC ? £100  £100 £100 
Ledbury TC £500   £500 £500 
Malvern Wells PC £1,000

? 
£1,000 £1,000 £760 £1,60

0 
Little Malvern & 
Welland PC 

£300 £300 £300 £300 £250 

West Malvern PC £350 £300 £300 £300 £300 
Wellington Heath PC   £125 £100 £100  
Berrow PC     £50 
 
Total 

£3,650 £4,325 £3,200 £3,56
0 

£3,55
0 

 
 

 
2 Not including additional voluntary PC/TC contributions 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



  
 
MALVERN HILLS NATIONAL LANDSCAPE JOINT 
ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

 26 APRIL 2024 
 
COMMUNITY PROJECTS UPDATE 23-24 – 
INFORMATION ITEM 
 
 
Background 
 
 

Table 1 - summary of completed projects 
 
 
Project  Grant Notes 
Landmarking TBC We are currently liaising with a number of 

partners to investigate building an arts 
project around the temporary installation of a 
sculpture on the Malvern Hills. We are lucky 
to have the interest of an eminent sculptor, 
but we do not underestimate the number of 
consents and permissions, and indeed 
finance that will be needed to make the 
project successful. We are currently trying to 
get the statutory authorities to give a steer on 
the acceptability of the idea. 
 

U3A Natural History 
Group – ‘Ecology on our 
doorstep’ -surveying of 
Castlemorton 
watercourses . 

£500 Training of natural history vols and detailed 
species recording for sites near 
Castlemorton watercourses throughout the 
year. Booklets will be produced for sale/ 
given away to interested parties. Twice 
weekly volunteering sessions were held 
resulting in very good volunteer numbers. 

Tools for Self-Reliance £600 This charity is based locally. It recycles old 
agricultural and workshop tools for sale 
locally. It is staffed by volunteers who restore 
the tools and sell them at local events. The 
money raised, and suitable tools go to help 
shamba farmers in Africa. The request for 
£600 is for shelving units for their new 
premises at The Church of the Good 
Shepherd, Colwall. 

On the Bare Hill £2000 We have supported a successful bid to the 
Arts Council for a graduate theatre group to 
produce a collaborative drama, working with 
local community groups to create and 
perform a theatre piece about the hills. The 

Page 67

AGENDA ITEM 8



group have now worked with a range of local 
schools and organisations and rehearsals 
have started, using community ideas about 
the hills (and their future) to create a drama 
piece. This will be presented at Malvern 
Cube at the end of May. 

The Earth Heritage Trust £2400 Support for the repair and clearance of 
geological sites. Data has contributed to our 
‘State of the AONB’ work. 

Grounded conversations £2000 A project working with photographer and 
social history recordist Geoff Broadway, to 
record conversations and take portraits of 
visitors to the AONB.  

Malvern Cube – high 
level raised bed 

£1000 This project is to make a disability friendly 
raised bed for use by garden volunteers and 
Cube users. It has been built by Men’s shed, 
Repair Café and Cube volunteers and is part 
of the creation of an outside performance 
space/garden. A large number of volunteers 
have worked on this project and new 
partnerships formed. 

Castlemorton 
Churchyard 

£340 A small grant has allowed the hire of 
machinery to prepare the churchyard for 
wildflower seed sowing, creating a meadow 
on less intensively used parts of the 
churchyard. This project has made use of 
expertise gained by similar Community Fund 
projects. 

Land Art project £1400 Local artist, Juliet Mootz, has worked with 
young people, visually impaired artists, 
dementia sufferers, refugees and carers to 
create art works based on their experiences 
and memories of the hills and commons. 
There will be an exhibition of the work in 
Malvern library for the month of July. This 
project has successfully addressed the issue 
of encouraging those less able to visit the 
National Landscape to engage with it. 

 
Recommendation   
 
The Committee is requested to:  

1. Note and comment on the report. 
2. Bring further project ideas to the National Landscape Team for  

2024/25 
 
Contact Points 
 
County Council Contact Points 
County Council: 01905 763763 
Worcestershire Hub: 01905 765765 
Email: worcestershirehub@worcestershire.gov.uk 

Page 68

mailto:worcestershirehub@worcestershire.gov.uk


 
Specific Contact Points for this report 
David Armitage / Karen Humphries, Assistant Manager (job share), Malvern 
Hills NL Partnership 
Email: darmitage@worcestershire.gov.uk or 
khumphries@worcestershire.gov.uk 
 

Page 69

mailto:darmitage@worcestershire.gov.uk
mailto:khumphries@worcestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
Malvern Hills National Landscape Joint Advisory Committee – 26 April 2024 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MALVERN HILLS NATIONAL LANDSCAPE JOINT 
ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
 
26 APRIL 2024 
 
FARMING IN PROTECTED LANDSCAPES UPDATE 
 
 
Recommendation 
 

1. The Committee is recommended to: 
 

a) Note the report; 
b) Raise and discuss any issues arising. 

 
  
Background 
 

2. Defra’s Farming in Protected Landscapes (FiPL) programme was launched in early 
July 2021. The programme forms part of the Agricultural Transition Plan (published 
on 30 November 2020), with funding available for all National Parks and AONBs 
across England.  

 
3. On the 31 January 2023, DEFRA announced that the FiPL Scheme will be 

extended for an additional year, meaning that FiPL now runs until March 2025.  
 
Summary 
 

4. Information on the Farming in Protected Landscapes Programme can be found at: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/funding-for-farmers-in-protected-landscapes 

5. Guidance for applicants, tailored to the Malvern Hills AONB, can be found at: 
https://www.malvernhillsaonb.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/Annex-F-
Guidance-for-Applicants-211011.pdf 
 

6. Key points and developments regarding Farming in Protected Landscapes in the 
Malvern Hills AONB are as follows: 

Page 71

AGENDA ITEM 9

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/funding-for-farmers-in-protected-landscapes
https://www.malvernhillsaonb.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/Annex-F-Guidance-for-Applicants-211011.pdf
https://www.malvernhillsaonb.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/Annex-F-Guidance-for-Applicants-211011.pdf


 
Malvern Hills National Landscape Joint Advisory Committee – 26 April 2024 
 

 
 

Timing 
 

7. FiPL is now entering the final year of the programme – 2024/25.  
 
 
Funding and expenditure 
 

8. For Year 1 of FiPL (2021 – 2022), the budget allocation was £90,000.45. 
£72,265.53 was spent on Projects, £15,425.08 was spent on Advice and guidance 
and £2,332.60 was spent on Admin, totalling £90,014.21, giving an overspend of 
£13.76.  

 
9. For Year 2 of FiPL (2022 – 2023), the allocated budget was originally £236,538. 

However, due to the increase in Countryside Stewardship rates of January 2023, 
the budget was extended to support the additional costs, giving a total budget of 
£243,739.19. At the close of the year, £208,134.33 was spent on projects, 
£29,680.95 was spent on Advice and Guidance and £5,063 was spent on Admin, 
giving an underspend of £860.91.  

 
10. For Year 3 of FiPL (2023 – 2024), the allocated budget was £317,130.59. Of this, 

a total of £258,783.15 was spent of FiPL projects, with £53,012.90 being spent of 
A&G and Admin, with an underspend of £5,334.54. It should be noted that a total 
of £47,096.69 worth of projects have been rolled into the 24/25 FY.  

 
11. For Year 4 (2024 – 2025), there is an allocated budget of £360,226. Of this, 

£147,960.46 has already been allocated, including the rolled over projects as 
detailed above.   

 
 
Staffing  
 

12. Sash Warden remains the full time FiPL Officer with support off Karen Humphries, 
Paul Esrich and Wade Muggleton from the Worcestershire County Council 
Greenspace Team.  

 
 
 
Grant Assessment Panel 
 

13. Oda Dijkershuis from the Environment Agency has also joined the panel; all other 
Panel members remain the same as reported on at the last JAC Meeting.  

 
14. The panel have met a total of 18 times throughout the duration of the FiPL Scheme. 

The next panel meeting is scheduled for the 11 April 2024.   
 
Enquiries 
 

15. Enquires for the final year are coming in, with confidence in spending the budget 
in the final year of the FiPL grant.   

 

Page 72



 
Malvern Hills National Landscape Joint Advisory Committee – 26 April 2024 
 

Projects 
 

16. The table on the following page details all projects approved, up to the 31st March 
2024.  

  
Historic Building Restoration Grant  
 

17. Defra recently announced additional funding specifically for Historic Building 
restoration projects. The FiPL Historic Building Restoration Grant (HBRG) 
amounts to £5 million for English National Parks and AONBs over the next 
financial year FY24/25, split with £4.5 million allocated to capital project delivery, 
and £500,000 allocated in additional revenue funding to support developing, 
advising, and managing approved projects (including provision of specialist 
advice). 

  
18. This funding builds on the previous Historic Buildings Restoration Pilot in five 

National Parks managed by Historic England and Natural England, launched in 
2018.  The funding recognises the importance of historic buildings in our 
protected landscapes and for farmers and land managers. It is an excellent 
opportunity for FiPL to target restoration of historic buildings under the existing 
“Place” theme to enhance the special qualities of your own landscapes. 

 
19. The Malvern Hills National Landscape has entered 4 Historic buildings for 

assessment, receiving full approval for the restoration of Hawthorns Barn at 
Bromesberrow Estate, with funding totally £201,436.60. If the remaining 3 
building receive full approval, the total funding will be £577,059.00.  

 

County Council Contact Points 

County Council: 01905 763763 
Worcestershire Hub: 01905 765765 
Email: worcestershirehub@worcestershire.gov.uk 
 
Specific Contact Points for this report 
Sash Warden, Farming in Protected Landscapes Officer 
Tel: 01905 844686 
Email: swarden@worcestershire.gov.uk  
 

Page 73

mailto:worcestershirehub@worcestershire.gov.uk
mailto:swarden@worcestershire.gov.uk


  

 
Malvern Hills National Landscape Joint Advisory Committee – 26 April 2024 

Project 
Code 

Project Title Applicant Approval 
Date 

Year 1 
Spend 

Year 2 
Allocation 

Year 3 
Allocation 

Year 4 
Allocation 

MH001 Malvern Foothill Connections MHT 23/09/2021 £11,321.80 / / / 
MH002 Colwall Orchard Group 

Traditional Orchards for the 
Future Initiative (COG TOFI 
2021/22) 

COG 23/09/2021 £8,520.00 / / / 

MH003 Colwall Orchard Group 
Improving equipment and 
facilities for people and nature  

COG 23/09/2021 £12,760.46 £10,495.00 / / 

MH004 Baston Hall – Regenerative 
Grazing 

Private 23/09/2021 £15,235.83 / / / 

MH005 Garden House Orchard 
Restoration 

Private 23/09/2021 £3,960.00 / / / 

MH006  Hope End Park Conservation 
Management Plan 

MH AONB 23/09/2021 £8,794.00 £12,556.00 / / 

MH007 Restoration of the last remaining 
Donkey Shed 

MHT 09/12/2021 / £14,456.00 / / 

MH008 Restoration of Lower Norgrove 
Orchard 

Private 09/12/2021 / £2,556.00 / / 

MH009 Species Rich Grassland Creation 
and Orchard Creation at the 
Halvins 

Private  09/12/2021 £3,649.00 £3,138.40 / / 

MH010 Tup Paddock at Woodfield’s 
Farm 

Private 13/02/2022 / £2,745.50 / / 

MH011 Conservation enhancement at 
Mason’s Fields (The Purlieu) 

Private 31/03/2022 / £16,307.4 / / 

MH012 Conservation enhancement at 
Knell Farm 

Private 26/09/2022 / £2,896 £600 / 

MH013 Brush Seed Harvester MH AONB 02/02/2022 £8,087.44 / / / 

P
age 74



 
Malvern Hills National Landscape Joint Advisory Committee – 26 April 2024 
 

MH014 COG TOFI 2022/23 COG 19/05/2022 / £24,187.50 £1611.00 / 
MH015 New House Orchard Restoration 

and expansion 
Private 19/05/2022 / £15,596.00 / / 

MH016 Woodland Track Creation at 
Mathon 

Mathon Court 12/07/2023 / / £5,124.21 / 

MH017 Eastnor Estates Woodshed 
Improvement 

Eastnor 
Estates 

28/07/2022 / £17,391.00 £10,932.92 / 

MH018 Increasing local meadow 
biodiversity for education and as 
a local seed bank 

Private 16/08/2022 / £1,820.00 £2,220.00 / 

MH020 Lane End Meadow Restoration Private 26/09/2022 / £582 £742.50 / 
MH021 Orchard Planting at 

Castlemorton 
Private 12/01/2023 / £256.16 / / 

MH022 Pond Restoration and Hedgerow 
Creation at Tundridge Stud 

Private 03/11/2022 / £1,728 £9,693.87 / 

MH023 Pond and Orchard Creation at 
Crumpton Hill Farm 

Private 28/09/2022 / £5,899.50 / / 

MH024 All Saints Wood MHT 18/11/2022 / £5,434.70 £478 / 
MH026 Hedge Laying at Cherry Green Private 06/10/2022 / £1,817.60 / / 
MH028 Hedgerow (Re)Creation at Lower 

Moors 
Private 07/10/2022 / £2,392.50 / / 

MH029 Woodland Management at Dove 
Barn 

Private 18/11/2022 / £5,688.95 / / 

MH030 Hedgerow creation at Wildgoose 
Hill Farm 

Private 03/11/2022 / £16,964.50 / / 

MH031 Dingwood Park (Re)Creation Private 03/11/2022 / £27,403.64 / / 
MH033 Hope End Park Restoration – 

Roger Allsop – Phase 1 
Private 03/11/2022 / £6,162 / / 

MH034 Tan House Hedgerow 
Improvements 

Private 01/11/2022 / £1,403.80 / / 

MH035  Shelter Belt Creation at the Town 
House 

Private 18/11/2022 / £4,969.80 / / 

MH036 Hedgerow creation at Colwall Private 11/01/2023 / £918.80 / / 

P
age 75



 
Malvern Hills National Landscape Joint Advisory Committee – 26 April 2024 
 

MH037 Hope End Restoration Phase 2 Private 12/07/2023 / / £6,038.00 / 
MH038 Dingwood Park (Re)Creation – 

Phase 2, Ledbury 
Private 20/04/2023 / / £38,160.68 / 

MH039 Colwall Orchard Group (COG) 
Traditional Orchards for the 
Future Initiative 

COG 12/07/2023 / / £39,743.09 £30,415.44 

MH040 PA2 Implementation plan for 
Historic Building restoration 

Bromesberrow 
Estate 

19/03/2024 / / £2,203.20 / 

MH041 Vineyard Expansion, Mathon Mathon Court  12/07/2023 / / £4,208.86 £2,976.79 
MH042 PA2 Implementation plan for 

Historic Build Restoration 
Private 20/03/2024 / / £5,000.00 / 

MH043 Malvern Hills AONB Meadows 
Project 2023 

AONB 21/06/2023 / / £11,140.00 / 

MH044 Evendine Lane Field 
Improvements 

MHT 21/06/2023 / / £11,811.74 / 

MH045 Conservation and education 
enhancements at The Elms 

The ELM’s 
school 

12/07/2023 / / £8,597.44 / 

MH046 Hedgerow planting and 
improvements for habitat 
connectivity at Lower Court 

Lower Court 22/02/2024 / / / £17,937.14 

MH047 Hawthorns Farmyard 
Refurbishment and Permissive 
Access 

Bromesberrow 
Estate 

20/09/2023 / / £2,710.94 £10,018.00 

MH048 Livestock Infrastructure and 
conservation enhancements at 
Colwall 

Private 31/08/2023 / / £24,342.24 £11,130.30 

MH049 Pastures for Profit in Protected 
Landscapes  

Pastures for 
Life 

31/08/2023 / / £10,259.70 £14,657.50 

MH050 PA2 to support building tenders 
and conservation management 
plan for the Granary, Massington 

Eastnor 
Castle estates 

11/04/2024 / / / £4,750.00 

MH051 Orchard planting at Old Country 
Farm 

Private 30/01/2024 / / £5,170.59 / 

P
age 76



 
Malvern Hills National Landscape Joint Advisory Committee – 26 April 2024 
 

MH052 BASIS Reg Courses for Carbon 
and Sustainable Land 
Management  

MH AONB / 
MHT 

20/09/2023 / / £2,455.00 / 

MH054 Woodland and Orchard 
Management at Dove Barn, 
Phase 2 

Private 20/09/2023 / / £3,616.00 / 

MH055 Wildgoose Hill Farm – Hedgerow 
Works 

Private 22/11/2024 / / £21,597.89 / 

MH056 Conservation enhancement and 
Forest School Facility 
improvements at the Downs 
School 

The Downs 
School 

17/01/2024 / / £5,059.62 / 

MH057 Orchard gapping up and 
meadow infrastructure at the 
Hollands, Coombe Green 

Private 01/11/2024 / / £2,064.00 / 

MH058 Natural Flood Management and 
habitat creation at Goose Farm, 
Lulsley 

Private 08/11/2024 / / £4,825.50 / 

MH059 HBRG – The Granary, 
Massington, Eastnor Estate 

Eastnor 26/03/2024 / / / £102,973.60 
(HBRG) 

MH060 HBRG – Hawthorns Barn, 
Bromesberrow Estate 

Bromesberrow 
Estate 

27/03/2024 / / / £201,436.00 
(HBRG) 

MH061 Natural Food Management – 
Leaky Dam Construction 

Private 10/01/2024 / / / £2,320.80 

MH063 HBRG - Old Country House Hop 
and Cider Kilns and Oast House 

 10/04/2024 / / / £144,000.00 
(HBRG) 

MH064 Hope End Park Restoration – 
Phase 2 

Private 20/11/2024 / / £2,180.08 / 

MH065 Orchard pruning at the Winnings Private 14/12/2023 / / £3,625.00 £3,625.00 
MH066 Website development and 

purchase of cactus guards at 
Baston Hall 

Private 22/11/2024 / / £2,586.30 / 

P
age 77



 
Malvern Hills National Landscape Joint Advisory Committee – 26 April 2024 
 

 

Projects in italic and highlighted are for assessment in coming panel meetings. 

MH067 Orchard Restoration at Vinesend 
House 

Private 20/11/2024 / / £2,340.00 / 

MH068 HBRG – Redlands Farmstead, 
Colwall 

Private 10/04/2024 / / / £128,650.00 
(HBRG) 

MH069 Orchard creation and livestock 
infrastructure at Blackmore Farm 
Park Barn 

Private 06/12/2024 / / £5,770.00 / 

MH070 Deer high seats for woodland 
management at Ravenshill Wood 

Private 11/12/2023 / / £530.00 / 

MH071 Equipment to support woodland 
management at Old Colwall 
House 

Private 16/01/2024 / / £1,014.09 / 

MH072 Upgrading the Malvern Hills 
Trust Equipment 

Malvern Hills 
Trust 

22/02/2024 / / £16,295.48 / 

MH073 Restoration of Rose Farm 
Orchard 

Netherley 
Estate 

11/04/2024 / / / £21,005.20 

MH074 Hedgerow works at Woodfields 
Farm 

Private 22/02/2024 / / £8,161.20 / 

MH075 Fencing of Oyster Hill Woodland, 
Hope End Park 

Private 22/02/2024 / / £4.530.08 / 

MH077 Dingwood Park Re-creation, 
Phase 3 

Dingwood 
Park Farm  

11/04/2024 / / / £22,187.50 

MH078 Electric fencing for conservation 
and footpath improvements 

Bromesberrow 
Estate 

11/04/2024 / / / £2,717.00 

MH080 Species rich grassland creation 
restoration and expansion, and 
orchard creation 

Private 11/04/2024 / / / £23,353.26 

MH081 Foot path improvement gate at 
Heath Mill Farm 

Private 20/02/2024 / / / £342.00 

P
age 78



  
 

Malvern Hills National Landscape Joint Advisory Committee – 26 April 2024 
 

MALVERN HILLS AONB JOINT ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
26 APRIL 2024 
INFORMATION ITEMS  
 
  

Management Plan ref. 
(abridged) 
 

Project  
 

LP3 Promote positive 
change to landowners, 
managers, developers 
etc.  
 

See FiPL update report. 
 
AONB Landowner/farmer events  
An event on regenerative farming with livestock took place at 
Baston Hall in November 2023 and a further livestock 
management walk, talk and discussion took place at 
Madresfield Estate in March 2024. The latter is one of a 
series of https://www.pastureforlife.org/marches-programme/ 
events sponsored by FiPL in the Malvern Hills, Shropshire 
Hills and Wye Valley NLs.   
 
White-clawed Crayfish 
The MHNL Team organised an event for landowners and 
managers alongside the Whippets and Careys Brooks, to 
raise awareness of this endangered species and to discuss 
opportunities for beneficial land management. Partners from 
the Environment Agency, Natural England, Worcestershire 
Wildlife Trust and local volunteers were all involved.   
 
 

BP4 Improve 
knowledge and 
understanding of the 
AONB’s biodiversity 
 

Colwall Hedges Project 
Together with Colwall Parish Council and Colwall Orchard 
Group, we arranged and funded an evening event to 
celebrate the hedge survey in the parish, and all good things 
about hedges. 130 people attended, a barn owl and a kestrel 
 
Water quality monitoring 
5 landowners in the Teme Catchment within the MHNL have 
begun regular water quality sampling using equipment and 
support provided by the Severn Rivers Trust as part of a 
larger citizen science project.  
 
Hope End Registered Park management  
Fencing has recently been erected around an area of scrub 
woodland on Oyster Hill and 12 new trees have been planted 
in the eastern part of the park. This is the latest work to be 
completed with FiPL funding, in furtherance of the Parkland 
Management Plan.   
 
 

Page 79

AGENDA ITEM 10

https://www.pastureforlife.org/marches-programme/


  
 

Malvern Hills National Landscape Joint Advisory Committee – 26 April 2024 
 

HP1 Conserve and 
enhance the historic 
and cultural 
environment of the 
AONB 
 

Dingwood Management Plan and works 
Phase 1 of Dingwood Park restoration was complete by 
March 2023, with parkland tree planting, shelter belt 
infrastructure and pond restoration. Phase 2 has also been 
completed, including restoring the traditional orchard and 
improving the conservation value of the hedging.  
 
 

FP5 Support  
appropriate measures  
to monitor and control  
pests, diseases and  
invasive non-native 
plant and animal  
species to protect food 
production and  
biodiversity resources. 
 
 

The Team secured permission from more than 50 
landowners to allow the Forestry Commission to conduct a 
drone-based deer survey over the MHNL. Unfortunately the 
survey did not progress in the winter just gone due to the FC 
running out of money and because of delays caused by poor 
weather. We have been told that the survey will progress 
early in the winter of 2024/25. There is a potential FiPL 
Project in the pipeline for a Deer/Game Larder. 
 

BDO1 The distinctive  
character and  
natural beauty  
of the AONB  
will be fully  
reflected in the  
development and  
implementation  
of consistent  
statutory land use  
planning policy  
and guidance  
across the AONB.  
 

Planning  
The National Landscape Team continue to assist in providing 
comments subsequently submitted by the National Landscapes 
Association, in respect of the recent UK Government 
consultations on extending further permitted development rights 
into protected landscapes.  
  
The National Landscape Team Planning Officer has been 
actively involved contributing to a ‘Task and Finish’ Group run 
by the National Landscape Association to help identify and 
assess the potential implications of the new statutory duty, on 
relevant authorities, to seek to further the purpose(s) of 
designation of protected landscapes, particularly from a 
planning perspective.  
  
At the time of writing, during the 2023-2024 financial year, the 
National Landscape Team Planning Officer made 140 
representations on planning applications, including appeals. An 
annual review of the planning work undertaken by the National 
Landscape Team will be presented as a separate paper at the 
next meeting of the JAC. 

The Planning Officer has enabled the Team to become more 
actively involved in planning matters, particularly at a decision-
making level by Planning Committees. For example, he 
addressed members at the Malvern Hills District Council 
Southern Area Planning Committee meeting in November 2023, 
in objecting to a residential dwelling in the setting of the National 
Landscape at The Lovells, Welland. This application was 
refused partly on such grounds. In a more recent case in 
Herefordshire the National Landscape Team made an important 
representation citing the revised 'must seek to further the 
purpose' duty in the case of a long-running proposed 
'outstanding dwelling' development at Glenwood Springs, Upper 

Page 80



  
 

Malvern Hills National Landscape Joint Advisory Committee – 26 April 2024 
 

Colwall.  The team consider that this application does not meet 
the high bar for such development in an open countryside 
location. This application was refused at Herefordshire Council's 
Planning & Regulatory Committee in March 2024, nearly two 
and a half years after being validated. 

 
TP2 Provide a Quality 
public realm with good 
access and facilities 
that attract tourists 
 
 

Malvern Wells Information Boards 
Two information boards about grassland management on sites 
being managed by the Council have now been installed, with 
funding support from the NL Team.    
 

IP3 Raise awareness of 
the MHAONB and the 
significance of its 
designation 
 

Rebranding AONBs 
AONBs have been rebranded as National Landscapes. We 
have yet to see what benefits this brings but the hope is that, 
amongst other things, a more unified ‘feel’ to this branch of 
the protected landscape will yield better funding.  
 

 Training for Parish Councils  
The National Landscape Team hosted a webinar for Town 
and Parish Council members on 28 November 2023. This 
was to raise awareness of the National Landscape and the 
work of the partnership, as well as to explain recent changes 
to do with rebranding and legislation. It also provided an 
opportunity to tee up the Management Plan review.   
 
Training for Malvern Hills, Herefordshire Council and Forest 
of Dean District Council staff  
The National Landscape Team will be seeking to meet with 
planners and other officers at these three local planning 
authorities in the new financial year to raise awareness of the 
National Landscape and the work of the partnership, as well 
as to explain recent changes to do with rebranding and 
legislation, and the implications this has for strategic planning 
and development management, as well as a general planning 
discussion.  
 
 

Vision 2040: people are 
connected emotionally, 
and spiritually to the 
area.  
 

Art in the Landscape Project – Nature Calling 
The National Landscapes Association made a bid to Arts 
Council England/Defra for funding for arts projects within 
individual AONBs. The purpose of this is to use the arts to 
engage people with the issues of our time around Nature. 
The grant was for £2M and there will be an opportunity in 
2025 for MHNL to commission artists and take part in this 
landmark national programme. 
 
 

RP6 Increase the range 
of opportunities for 
those with restricted 

Our programme of work to improve accessibility in the AONB 
was awarded £3,953 extra Access funding from DEFRA. This 

Page 81



  
 

Malvern Hills National Landscape Joint Advisory Committee – 26 April 2024 
 

mobility and health 
impairments to 
experience the AONB 

was used to replace stiles with gates at Eastnor and to make 
track improvements above the Gullet.  
 
We are open to projects for 2024/25. Please contact David 
Armitage. 
 

 
 
Recommendation 
 
Members of the JAC are requested to note this information report and 
contact the AONB Unit if they wish to be involved in any consultations 
or to receive further information on any of these agenda items. 
 
 
Contact Points 
 
County Council Contact Points 
County Council: 01905 763763 
Worcestershire Hub: 01905 765765 
Email: worcestershirehub@worcestershire.gov.uk 
 
Specific Contact Points for this report 
Paul Esrich, Manager, Malvern Hills NL Partnership 
Tel: 01905 845057 
Email: pesrich@worcestershire.gov.uk 
Website: www.malvernhillsaonb.org.uk 
 

Page 82

mailto:worcestershirehub@worcestershire.gov.uk
mailto:pesrich@worcestershire.gov.uk

	Agenda
	5 Management Plan Review
	MALVERN HILLS NATIONAL LANDSCAPE JOINT ADVISORY COMMITTEE
	26 APRIL 2024
	Recommendation
	Background
	Overview
	Legal status
	What does the Management Plan do?
	Management Plan audiences
	A new legal duty
	New national targets
	Summary
	Progress with the review to date
	Issues and drivers
	Input from JAC members
	Topic 1   Evidence and influences
	Topic 2   The current Plan
	Topic 3   Actions
	County Council Contact Points
	Appendix 1 - Malvern Hills AONB Management Plan (2019-24) Review Programme
	Appendix 2 – Defra’s 10 Environmental Improvement Plan Targets


	6 Position Statement on Renewable energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and its setting
	MALVERN HILLS NATIONAL LANDSCAPE JOINT ADVISORY COMMITTEE
	26 APRIL 2024
	Recommendation
	Background
	Consultation
	Renewable Energy in the Malvern Hills National Landscape and its Setting Position Statement
	On-Going Review
	County Council Contact Points

	6a V4 Renewables PS
	MALVERN HILLS NATIONAL LANDSCAPE


	7 National Landscape Budget and Outline Work Programme
	MALVERN HILLS NATIONAL LANDSCAPE JOINT ADVISORY COMMITTEE
	26 APRIL 2024
	Core budget
	Staff
	Work priorities
	8.	The Unit's work programme for 2024/25 will be centred around the implementation of the AONB Management Plan but is also expected to be driven, significantly, by more recent drivers and initiatives. Key priorities for the year include:
	Additional/Project funding
	County Council Contact Points


	8 Community Projects Update - Summary of 2023/24 Projects
	Table 1 - summary of completed projects

	9 Farming in Protected Landscapes - Update
	MALVERN HILLS NATIONAL LANDSCAPE JOINT ADVISORY COMMITTEE
	26 APRIL 2024
	Recommendation
	Background
	Summary
	Timing
	Funding and expenditure
	Staffing
	Grant Assessment Panel
	Enquiries
	Projects
	Historic Building Restoration Grant


	10 Information Items
	MALVERN HILLS AONB JOINT ADVISORY COMMITTEE
	26 APRIL 2024
	Information items


